University of Kassel Faculty 10 Mathematics and Natural Sciences Department of Ecology

DISSERTATION for obtaining an academic degree "Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)"

Diversity of aphyllophoroid fungi from taxonomical and biogeographical perspectives

by Oleksandr Ordynets

Submitted on 07 June 2018 Defended on 23 October 2018

Kassel, 2018

Author's address

Department of Ecology Faculty 10 Mathematics and Natural Sciences University of Kassel Heinrich-Plett-Strasse 40 34132 Kassel Germany

Email: a.ordynets@uni-kassel.de

Supervisor Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer Department of Ecology, University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany

Reviewers

Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer Department of Ecology, University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany

Dr. Christian Printzen Botany and Molecular Evolution Research, Senckenberg Research Institute and Museum of Natural History, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Disputation commission members

Prof. Dr. Ewald Langer Department of Ecology, University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany

Dr. Christian Printzen Botany and Molecular Evolution Research, Senckenberg Research Institute and Museum of Natural History, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Prof. Dr. Georg Mayer Department of Zoology, University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany

Prof. Dr. Raffael Schaffrath Department of Microbiology, University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ABSTRACT IN GERMAN / ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS7
AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS
INTRODUCTION
Fungal perspective on biodiversity knowledge10
Dimensions of fungal diversity11
Is every fungus found everywhere?12
Why study aphyllophoroid fungi?12
AIMS
MATERIALS AND METHODS17
Data sampling17
Specimens17
Sequences17
Observations17
Public occurrence data17
Environmental data18
Morphological study18
Molecular laboratory work19
DNA sequence-based analyses19
Ecological analyses
Gamma diversity and local species richness20
Beta diversity
Multivariate methods21
Data and protocols management21
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
New species occurrence data (I–IV)
Two new Trechispora species with peculiar morphological and ecological traits (II) 24
Subulicystidium: twice more species than known before (III)24
Subulicystidium brachysporum and S. meridense are polyphyletic (III)26
Nuclear ribosomal DNA sequence variation in <i>Subulicystidium</i> upon a comprehensive taxon sampling (III)
Geographical distribution of the newly introduced and revised taxa (II, III)27
Comprehensive account of the known aphyllophoroid fungal diversity in Europe (IV) 28
Spatial variation of species richness of aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe (IV)29

Spatial variation of community composition of European aphyllophoroid fungi in	
Europe (IV)	29
Different environmental drivers do matter for different diversity components (IV)	30
CONCLUSIONS	32
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	34
REFERENCES	36
ERKLÄRUNG GEMÄSS § 8 ABS. 1 SATZ 2 LIT. D AB-PromO	49
PUBLICATIONS	51

ABSTRACT

Comprehensive knowledge of biodiversity is a prerequisite for its long-term conservation and sustainable use. Fungi play crucial roles in ecosystems and are among the species-richest organism groups on Earth. However, all aspects of their diversity remain underexplored.

In this study, we aimed to fill the gaps in occurrence data and taxonomy as well as in understanding spatial diversity patterns of aphyllophoroid fungi (non-gilled macroscopic Basidiomycota). We digitized and made openly accessible 4,041 records of aphyllophoroid fungi from Central and Eastern Europe and several tropical areas. Numerous specimen records were associated with newly generated nuclear ribosomal DNA sequences (74 of ITS regions and 59 of 28S region) and numerous observations also with photographs depicting diagnostic features of fungal fruitbodies.

We described 13 new species of aphyllophoroid fungi based on morphological examination combined with DNA barcoding and phylogenetic Bayesian and Maximum likelihood analyses using ITS and 28S DNA sequences. Two new species belong to the genus *Trechispora* P. Karst. and eleven to the genus *Subulicystidium* Parmasto. In the latter, species-level variation in basidiospore size and shape was re-evaluated based on systematic measurements of 2,840 spores from 67 sequenced specimens. An updated identification key to all known species of *Subulicystidium* was provided. Using DNA-based evidence, in the studied lineage (Trechisporales K.H.Larss.) we showed for the first time a possibility of a transoceanic distribution.

Based on a dataset consisting of 14,030 fruitbody occurrences of 1,491 aphyllophoroid fungal species from 39 European areas, we showed that importance of biogeographical regions in determining European aphyllophoroid fungal communities varies for different diversity components. Species richness and nestedness were best explained by European biogeographical regions, whereas overall beta-diversity and species turnover were driven mostly by variation in climate, and nestedness mostly by tree species occupancy. Beta diversity patterns of aphyllophoroid fungi did not differ between southern and northern Europe. Therefore, at the continental scale, aphyllophoroid fungi are less shaped by historical legacies than vascular plant and animal communities.

Keywords: Agaricomycetes, beta diversity, biodiversity informatics, biometry, biogeography, distribution, *Hydnodontaceae*, nestedness, new species, species delimitation, species richness, species turnover, taxon occurrence, taxonomy

ABSTRACT IN GERMAN / ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Umfassendes Wissen über die Biodiversität ist eine Voraussetzung für ihre langfristige Erhaltung und nachhaltige Nutzung. Pilze spielen eine wichtige Rolle in Ökosystemen und gehören zu den artenreichsten Organismengruppen auf der Erde. Jedoch sind noch nicht alle Aspekte ihrer Vielfalt vollständig erforscht.

In dieser Studie haben wir uns zum Ziel gesetzt, die Lücken in den Verbreitungsdaten und der Taxonomie sowie im Verständnis der räumlichen Diversitätsmuster von aphyllophoroiden Pilzen (makroskopische Nichtblätterpilze der Basidiomycota) zu füllen. Wir haben 4,041 Datensätze von aphyllophoroiden Pilzen aus Mittel- und Osteuropa und verschiedenen tropischen Gebieten digitalisiert und veröffentlicht. Zahlreiche Herbarbelege wurden durch neu erzeugte nukleäre ribosomale DNS-Sequenzen (74 der ITS-Region und 59 der 28S-Region) sowie Fotografien, und diagnostischen Merkmalen zur Artbestimmung von Pilzfruchtkörpern zeigen, ergänzt.

Wir haben 13 neue Arten von aphyllophoroiden Pilzen beschrieben basierend auf Untersuchungen Kombination morphologischen in mit DNA-Barcoding und phylogenetischer Bayesian und Maximum-Likelihood-Analysen von ITS und 28S DNA-Sequenzen. Zwei neue Arten gehören zur Gattung Trechispora P. Karst. und elf zur Gattung Subulicystidium Parmasto. Im letzteren Fall wurde die Variation der Größe und Form der Basidiosporen auf Artebene neu bewertet, basierend auf systematischen Messungen von 2,840 Sporen von 67 sequenzierten Proben. Ein aktualisierter Identifizierungsschlüssel für alle bekannten Arten von Subulicystidium wurde bereitgestellt. Mittels DNA-basierter Evidenz zeigten wir in der untersuchten Linie (Trechisporales K.H.Larss.) erstmals die Möglichkeit einer transozeanischen Verbreitung innerhalb von Arten.

Basierend auf einem Datensatz, der aus 14,030 Fruchtkörpervorkommen von 1,491 aphyllophoroiden Pilzarten aus 39 europäischen Gebieten besteht, haben wir gezeigt, dass der Einfluss von biogeographischen Regionen bei die Bestimmung europäischer aphyllophoroider Pilzgemeinschaften für verschiedene Diversitätskomponenten variiert. Artenreichtum und Nestedness ließen sich am besten durch europäische biogeografische Regionen erklären, während die gesamte Beta-Diversität und der Artenumsatz hauptsächlich durch Klimaschwankungen verursacht wurde, und die Nestedness hauptsächlich durch die Besiedlung der Baumarten bestimmt wurde. Die Beta-Diversitätsmuster von aphyllophoroiden Pilzen unterschieden sich nicht zwischen Süd- und Nordeuropa. Daher sind aphyllophoroide Pilze auf kontinentaler Ebene weniger durch historische Vermächtnisse geprägt als durch vaskuläre Pflanzen- und Tiergemeinschaften.

Schlüsselwörter: Agaricomycetes, Beta-Diversität, Biodiversitätsinformatik, Biometrie, Biogeographie, Verbreitung, Hydnodontaceae, Nestedness, neue Arten, Artenabgrenzung, Artenreichtum, Artenumsatz, Taxonvorkommen, Taxonomie

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Ordynets A, Savchenko A, Akulov A, Yurchenko E, Malysheva V, Kõljalg U, Vlasák J, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2017) Aphyllophoroid fungi in insular woodlands of eastern Ukraine. Biodiversity Data Journal 5: e22426. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.5.e22426
- II. Ordynets A, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2015) Two new *Trechispora* species from La Réunion Island. Mycological Progress 14: 113. doi: 10.1007/s11557-015-1133-0
- III. Ordynets A, Scherf D, Pansegrau F, Denecke J, Lysenko L, Larsson K, & Langer E (2018) Short-spored *Subulicystidium* (Trechisporales, Basidiomycota): high morphological diversity and only partly clear species boundaries. MycoKeys 35: 41-99. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.35.25678
- IV. Ordynets A, Heilmann-Clausen J, Savchenko A, Bässler C, Volobuev S, Akulov O, Karadelev M, Kotiranta H, Saitta A, Langer E, Abrego N (2018) Do plant-based biogeographical regions shape aphyllophoroid fungal communities in Europe? Journal of Biogeography 45: 1182–1195. doi: 10.1111/jbi.13203

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

I. Ordynets A, Savchenko A, Akulov A, Yurchenko E, Malysheva V, Kõljalg U, Vlasák J, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2017) Aphyllophoroid fungi in insular woodlands of eastern Ukraine. Biodiversity Data Journal 5: e22426. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.5.e22426

Abbreviations of author names: Alexander Ordynets — AO Anton Savchenko — AS Alexander Akulov— AA Eugene Yurchenko — EYu Vera Malysheva — VM Urmas Kõljalg — UK Josef Vlasák — JV Karl-Henrik Larsson — KHL Ewald Langer — EL

AO and AA are the main collectors of specimens and observations. AO, AA, EYu, VM, UK, JV and KHL identified the specimens. UK, JV, KHL and EL sequenced fungal specimens. AO and AS uploaded data to the PlutoF workbench and further managed it. AO wrote the first version of the manuscript and all co-authors contributed to the writing.

II. Ordynets A, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2015) Two new *Trechispora* species from La Réunion Island. Mycological Progress 14: 113. doi: 10.1007/s11557-015-1133-0

Abbreviations of author names: Alexander Ordynets — AO Karl-Henrik Larsson — KHL Ewald Langer — EL

AO and KHL conceived the idea. EL collected specimens and photographed species in the field. AO and KHL performed morphological examination of the specimens. AO obtained and managed DNA sequences and performed phylogenetic analyses. AO generated descriptions of the new species which were further improved by KHL and EL. AO wrote the first draft of the manuscript and KHL and EL contributed to the writing. III. Ordynets A, Scherf D, Pansegrau F, Denecke J, Lysenko L, Larsson K, & Langer E (2018) Short-spored *Subulicystidium* (Trechisporales, Basidiomycota): high morphological diversity and only partly clear species boundaries. MycoKeys (accepted).

Abbreviations of author names: Alexander Ordynets — AO David Scherf — DS Felix Pansegrau — FP Jonathan Denecke — JD Ludmila Lysenko — LL Karl-Henrik Larsson — KHL Ewald Langer — EL

AO and KHL conceived the idea. KHL and EL collected most of the fungal specimens used in the study. FP, DS, AO and KHL obtained and edited DNA sequence data. AO, KHL, FP, and LL managed specimen collecting data and DNA sequence metadata. AO performed molecular analyses. AO, DS, and KHL prepared species descriptions. DS, JD, and AO obtained and analysed spore measurements data. AO, KHL, and EL wrote the manuscript and all co-authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

IV. Ordynets A, Heilmann-Clausen J, Savchenko A, Bässler C, Volobuev S, Akulov O, Karadelev M, Kotiranta H, Saitta A, Langer E, Abrego N (2018) Do plant-based biogeographical regions shape aphyllophoroid fungal communities in Europe? Journal of Biogeography 45: 1182–1195. doi: 10.1111/jbi.13203

Abbreviations of author names: Alexander Ordynets — AO Jacob Heilmann-Clausen — JHC Anton Savchenko — AS Claus Bässler — CB Sergey Volobuev — SV Olexander Akulov— OA Mitko Karadelev — MK Heikki Kotiranta — HK Alessandro Saitta — AS Ewald Langer — EL Nerea Abrego — NA

AO and JHC conceived the idea. All co-authors collected the data. AO, NA, CB and AS analysed the data; AO, JHC and NA wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all co-authors contributed to the writing.

INTRODUCTION

Fungal perspective on biodiversity knowledge

Knowledge on how biodiversity distributed on Earth is crucial for its long-term conservation and sustainable use. This information allows prioritization of conservation actions and guides policy making (Kremen et al. 2008, Meyer et al. 2015). Biodiversity data serves as an input for modelling the distribution of species of interest, which may be a pest or medically important species (Sutherst 2014, van Andel et al. 2015). There is a clear dependency between biodiversity loss and ecosystem resistance to climate extremes (Isbell et al. 2015). Therefore knowledge of biodiversity is of a special importance in the rapidly changing world (Newbold et al. 2015).

To understand how biodiversity changes in space and time, biodiversity data should be properly documented. The FAIR principles to scientific data management—Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reusability—are fully applicable to biodiversity information (Wilkinson et al. 2016, Penev et al. 2017). Possibilities to digitise the taxon occurrences during the few last years have been additionally improved, providing great benefits for all biodiversity researchers (Abarenkov et al. 2010, Senderov et al. 2016). Nevertheless, a large amount of biodiversity information remains undiscovered or unlocked for public use (Wetzel et al. 2018). There are spatial, temporal and taxon-dependent differences in the availability of biodiversity information (Amano et al. 2016). All these data gaps hamper conservation efforts and benefits from using biodiversity (Meyer et al. 2015).

Members of the Fungi kingdom are efficient mutualists, pathogens, and decomposers, and they serve as key drivers of the carbon cycle. Fungi strongly affect ecosystem functioning, as well as humans and human-related activities (Desprez-Loustau et al. 2007, Clemmensen et al. 2013). However, their diversity remains poorer explored than in animals and plants. This is related to the difficulties of species detection, identification and delimitation. Although it is possible to record fungi from vegetative structures (i.e. mycelia) and dormant propagules (i.e. spores), so far, recording fungal species from reproductive structures (i.e. fruitbodies) has remained the most popular method to inventory macrofungi (Halme et al. 2012). However, fungal fruiting can be irregular and fruitbodies, when available, often persist for a short period of time. Morphological identification of fungal specimens may be time consuming because it requires accounting for a large number of microscopic characters (Bernicchia and Gorjón 2010). Furthermore, reporting the size variation of the key diagnostic structures in mycology (e.g. spores) has not been standardized, and intra-individual, intraspecific and interspecific size variation have often been confused thus hampering species delimitation (Parmasto et al. 1987).

Diversity of fungi is not evenly explored across the globe (Blackwell 2011). Europe is the continent with the most advanced knowledge of fungal diversity, due to a long tradition of research in fungal taxonomy and biodiversity (Mueller et al. 2007, Dahlberg et al. 2010). Numerous national projects and their cooperation enabled researchers to shed a first light onto important ecological processes such as species- and community-level responses of fungi to global warming (Kauserud et al. 2012, Andrew et al. 2016). High data availability results also in the most developed strategies of fungal conservation as exemplified by the Northern European countries (Heilmann-Clausen et al. 2015). In the last years, information on fungal diversity in North and South America has been rapidly accumulated (Rosenthal et al. 2017, Truong et al. 2017). This data provided important insights into ecology and evolutionary history of fungi but also showed that a substantial part of species lacks scientific names and are yet to be described.

Dimensions of fungal diversity

Fungi are among the species-richest organism groups on Earth (Blackwell 2011, Mora et al. 2011, Larsen et al. 2017). During the last four decades, in average, about 1,300 new species names were introduced each year. Since 2010, this number increased to around 1,800 species per year (Hibbett et al. 2011, Hawksworth and Lücking 2017). Nevertheless, the global fungal diversity remains largely unknown. While ca. 120,000 species of fungi are described to date, the estimates of global species richness vary between 0.5 and 10 million (Hawksworth & Lücking 2017).

As with the number of known species, the number of species occurrences of fungi lags behing the data for animals and plants. In the main biodiversity data aggregator GBIF, the number of registered species occurrences of fungi is 14,564,448. This number is 15 times lower than the number of plant records and 50 times lower than the number of animal records (GBIF.org 2018, accessed on 17 May 2018). The GBIF data currently reflects occurrences as recorded from the morphological structures (fruitbodies in the case of fungi) but the algorithm to represent molecular (DNA) evidence of species presence is under development (Schigel et al. 2017).

Molecular information plays an increasingly big role in mycology. The internal transcribed spacer (ITS) of the nuclear ribosomal DNA is the first choice in taxonomic, evolutionary and ecological studies on fungi since almost three decades (Kõljalg et al. 2013, Hibbett et al. 2016). The ITS has become the official DNA barcode for fungi after showing the best performance for species delimitation on a large spectrum of fungal lineages (Schoch et al. 2012). Therefore the majority of currently available pubic DNA sequences of fungi represent ITS region (Begerow et al. 2010, Nilsson et al. 2017).

The most comprehensive account of ITS sequences of fungi is given by the UNITE database which considers also all sequences from the International Nucleotide Sequence Database Collaboration, INSDC (Kõljalg et al. 2013). The latest statistics shows there is 817,130 public fungal ITS sequences obtained through Sanger sequencing (UNITE version 7.2, last updated 1 Dec 2017, accessible from: https://unite.ut.ee/). There are 1000 times more fungal ITS reads obtained via high-throughput sequencing (Hawksworth and Lücking 2017). However, they are currently not used in the taxonomic workflows but can be accessed via the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra).

Grouping current ITS sequences obtained through Sanger sequencing based on a classical 3% dissimilarity threshold (Begerow et al. 2010) results in 51,798 entities called "Species Hypotheses" (SH) which are used as species-level units in the diversity estimates or ecological analyses (Kõljalg et al. 2013). At the 1.5% threshold, 73,929 SHs are available while at 0.5% level the number of SHs reaches 122,202 (https://unite.ut.ee/statistics.php). Beside the quality issues known to occur with public DNA sequences (Nilsson et al. 2012, 2017), most of them lack scientific names. The number of the named fungal species in GenBank was 34,878 of 25 November 2016, while there were 94,059 species-level OTUs with no species names at that time (Hawksworth and Lücking 2017). In the time of broad

usage of DNA sequencing technologies, the number of public DNA sequences without names is constantly growing (Ryberg et al. 2009). This lack of a name negatively affects sequence reusability and hampers communication in science as well as policy making. Studying herbarium specimens and using the DNA sequences from them to name the unidentified sequences remains an important strategy to reduce the number of the "dark taxa" (Schoch et al. 2014, Page 2016, Ryberg and Nilsson 2018).

Is every fungus found everywhere?

Understanding the variation in species' global distribution patterns has fascinated researchers for over two centuries (Bonpland and Humboldt 1805, Wallace 1876). Currently, robust biogeoregionalization frameworks are available for animals and plants (Takhtajan 1978, Kreft and Jetz 2010, Linder et al. 2012, Holt et al. 2013). Fungal biogeography remains less explored (Mueller et al. 2007, Lumbsch et al. 2008). In addition to the problems of recording and communicating the taxa of fungi, one false assumption hampered studying their broad-scale diversity patterns. Most fungi disperse by microscopic windborne spores that can travel across continents. Consequently, scientist in the past suggested that fungal species have cosmopolitan distributions and are not limited by biogeographical contingencies (e.g. Moncalvo and Buchanan 2008, Sato et al. 2012). It is now widely accepted that this is not the case (Peay et al. 2010, Tedersoo et al. 2014, Hattori 2017). Even if fungal spores can disperse long distances by air current, the probability of effective dispersal decreases very rapidly with distance, meaning that fungi can be dispersal-limited even at the small spatial scales (Galante et al. 2011, Norros et al. 2014).

A recent study of soil fungi identified climate, edaphic conditions and distance from the Equator to be the best predictors for explaining soil fungal richness and community composition at global scale (Tedersoo et al. 2014). As animals and plants, soil fungi follow the general biogeographical principles of Tropical Conservatism Hypothesis which postulates that older phyla are more prevalent around Equator, and Rapoport's Rule, which states that average distribution ranges are broader towards poles and that endemicity is most pronounced in tropics (Tedersoo et al. 2014, Treseder et al. 2014). According to these recent studies, most soil fungi follow Wallace's biogeographic rule which theorizes decreasing species richness with increasing distance from Equator. However, ectomycorrhizal fungi have a peak of species richness in the temperate zone, explained by their tight associations to Pinaceae host trees (Tedersoo et al. 2014, Shiryaev 2014). Though these revolutionary studies have provided valuable novel insights on fungal biogeography, many basic macroecological aspects remain unresolved. These studies focused on the soil fungi, whose function is often unknown, and other important functional guilds of fungi acting aboveground remain unexplored. Importantly, while encompassing global spatial scales (Tedersoo et al. 2014, Davison et al. 2015), these studies have little regional resolution, and thus we still lack of regional biogeographical patterns.

Why study aphyllophoroid fungi?

This study focuses on the diversity of aphyllophoroid fungi. These fungi form neither an evolutionary nor an ecological group but are often targeted as a research object because of both strong taxonomic tradition and sampling convenience. During most of the 20th century, fungi with macroscopic fruitbodies were taxonomically classified according to their fruitbody morphologies. Several generations of mycologists were trained using the morphological classification of fungi. Though these morphological groups barely represent monophyletic taxa and are usually the result of convergent evolution (Hibbett 2007), the present-day identification keys for macrofungi for practical reasons are still compiled based on the principal fruitbody type (Krieglsteiner and Kaiser 2000, Bernicchia and Gorjón 2010, Ryvarden and Melo 2014).

Aphyllophoroid fungi represent those macrofungi from the phylum Basidiomycota R.T.Moore which do not develop gills or closed reproductive structures but have smooth, toothed, irregularly folded to poroid hymenophore and one-celled basidia. They were previously treated as a single taxonomic order but are now found among ca. 20 orders mostly of the class Agaricomycetes Doweld (Kirk et al. 2008, Hibbett et al. 2014). They comprise a highly diverse group both in terms of species richness and functional differentiation. They are the most important agents of wood decay globally (Stokland et al. 2012), but also include mycorrhizal species, plant pathogens and litter saprotrophs (Tedersoo and Smith 2013). In general, aphyllophoroid fungi are strongly dependent on woody plants in terms of nutrition and habitat.

The depth of knowledge about diversity of aphyllophoroid fungi differs between the regions of the world. For example, fruitbody-based species occurrences are more abundantly recorded in the temperate regions than in the tropics. The most straightforward reason of such difference is the lack of scientific names and taxonomic literature for the tropical fungi. Therefore, while there is a potential to analyse the diversity patterns of fungi from the temperate areas, the primary task of the tropical mycology is to provide the species names, keys and occurrence data for the new taxa. In this study, we compile and analyse the dataset of aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe to infer their diversity patterns in this best explored temperate region (papers I and IV). On the other hand, we contribute to the knowledge of tropical fungi by describing new species and revising existing species concepts in genera *Subulicystidium* Parmasto and *Trechispora* P. Karst. (papers II and III).

In Europe, diversity of aphyllophoroid fungi is documented better than on any other continent. Up-to-date taxonomic treatises and identification keys to these fungi at the continental scale are available (Bernicchia and Gorjón 2010, Ryvarden and Melo 2014). From the currently described ca. 3,000 species worldwide, a half of them has been considered to occur in Europe (Mueller et al. 2007). Nevertheless, even in Europe, along with successful projects and web platforms managing fungal diversity data (Abarenkov et al. 2010, Andrew et al. 2017), there is a plenty of records to be digitized and made open and reusable (I, IV). There are also still many regions and habitats to survey for the sake of data completeness at spatial and temporal scales (Dahlberg et al. 2010).

Despite some regional efforts, mainly in boreal Fennoscandia (Kotiranta et al. 2009, Nordén et al. 2013), Caucasus (Ghobad-Nejhad et al. 2012) and in the beech distribution area of temperate Europe (Heilmann-Clausen et al. 2014, Abrego et al. 2015, 2017) knowledge of aphyllophoroid fungal diversity patterns in Europe is limited. The close associations to live or dead plants in many species suggest that vegetation types greatly influence community composition, but it remains unknown to which degree vegetation zones structure aphyllophoroid fungal communities. A better understanding of how fungal communities depend on their host communities provides the possibility to gain insights into co-evolutionary relationships between fungi and plants (Heilmann-Clausen et al. 2016) and

how biogeographical legacies affect current distribution and host-specifity patterns (Auger-Rozenberg et al. 2015, Triponez et al. 2015).

In Europe, there is no general congruency among taxonomic groups regarding spatial diversity gradients (Keil et al. 2012). In spermatophyte plants, liverworts and several animal groups, nestedness increases towards the North as a result of the delay in post-glacial recolonization, whereas species turnover increases towards the South, as a response to the lower impact of the last glacial maximum and higher environmental heterogeneity (Hortal et al. 2011, Svenning et al. 2011). Among bryophytes, liverworts follow the same patterns as spermatophyte plants, whereas mosses follow an inverse pattern, with higher nestedness in the South due to exclusion of drought-intolerant species (Mateo et al. 2016). Given previous knowledge about host-tree specificity of many aphyllophoroid fungi, our working hypothesis was that plant-based biogeographical regions largely determine the distributions and diversity of European aphyllophoroid fungi. Further, we expected species richness to decrease and nestedness to increase towards the north, reflecting decreasing diversity in host-plant species (IV).

While conducting a survey of tropical fungi within a LOEWE-funded project of Integrative Fungal Research (IPF, http://www.integrative-pilzforschung.de), we collected specimens belonging to the genera *Subulicystidium* and *Trechispora* that could not be attributed to an any know species. Both genera belong to the family Hydnodontaceae Jülich of the order Trechisporales K.H.Larss. (Larsson 2007). The two genera have a lot in common in terms of knowledge on species diversity and distribution, which remain largely unexplored.

The genus *Trechispora* was established by Karsten (1890) to accommodate species with soft resupinate fruitbodies, poroid hymenophore and aculeate spores. *Trechispora* currently comprises 46 species (Kirk et al. 2008). Most of the accepted names were introduced by (Liberta 1966, 1973) and Larsson (1994, 1995, 1996) Larsson. After that few species have been added (Ryvarden 2002, Trichiès and Schultheis 2002, Miettinen et al. 2006). From the 46 *Trechispora* species listed in the Dictionary of Fungi (Kirk et al. 2008), 37 species are described based on collections from boreal and northern temperate zones. Therefore studies going beyond these biomes accumulate numerous specimens insufficiently identified as *"Trechispora sp."* (Telleria et al. 2013). In addition, the DNA barcode region is sequenced only for a small portion of described *Trechispora* species. A poor knowledge on tropical and subtropical *Trechispora* species, however, does not mean that they are rare. On the contrary, they seem to be abundant throughout the world (Larsson 1992).

The genus *Subulicystidium* was created by Parmasto (1968) to accommodate corticioid fungi with long subulate or sword-like cystidia with a unique encrustation. Currently, nine species are recognized based on morphological features (Index Fungorum, 2018). Species delimitation in *Subulicystidium* has remained challenging. Basidiospore size and shape were traditionally used as the main discriminating characters, while other microscopic structures of fruit bodies were considered as generally invariable (Oberwinkler 1977, Boidin and Gilles 1988, Duhem and Michel 2001). Despite the general progress in molecular identification of fungi during the last three decades (Kõljalg et al. 2013), almost no data on the genetic diversity within *Subulicystidium* has been published and the genus remains poorly represented in all kinds of molecular studies. Currently available public sequences are usually identified to genus level only, or even just named "Trechisporales". Public sequences from fungal fruitbodies annotated to the species level are few (Volobuev 2016).

Originally, we attempted to identify *Trechispora* and *Subulicystidium* specimens from Réunion Island (Indian Ocean), which was one of the key sampling areas in the IPF project. To make this possible, specimens loaned from other herbaria sampled in numerous localities of Paleo- and Neotropics were subsequently involved in the study. This helped to provide a broader look onto diversity and distribution of these fungi, when applying morphological and DNA-based methods to explore their species boundaries (II, III).

AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis is to fill in gaps in occurrence data and taxonomy and in understanding of spatial diversity patterns of aphyllophoroid fungi. The specific aims of the study are:

- To digitize and make openly accessible the records of aphyllophoroid fungi from Europe and several tropical areas according to the current standards of publishing biodiversity information (I–IV).
- To describe the new species in the genera *Trechispora* and *Subulicystidium* and provide reference DNA sequence data and morphological key for their identification (II, III).
- To evaluate the variability of fungal DNA barcode region in a single genus *Subulicystidium* upon a comprehensive taxon sampling (III).
- To describe the spatial diversity patterns of aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe and to identify the factors shaping these patterns (IV).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data sampling

Specimens

Studied herbarium specimens represent fungal fruitbodies which were sampled in a living condition according to the standards for collecting macrofungi (Lodge et al. 2004). Noticeable specimens collected by us were photographed directly in the field or after drying in the laboratory. Specimens were dried with an electric fan dryer on the day of collection and placed in grip seal plastic bags. Shortly after drying, the specimens were placed into a deep freezer ($-20^{\circ}C$) for a week, to prevent their destruction by insects.

Study I dealt with specimens of aphyllophoroid fungi collected in eastern Ukraine between 2007 and 2011 in the course of master project of Alexander Ordynets. These specimens are kept in the V.N. Karazin National University Herbarium, Kharkiv, Ukraine (CWU) and mycological collection of the University of Tartu TU (M). Study II considered specimens of Trechispora from Réunion Island (preserved in KAS-University of Kassel, Germany, and FR — Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum, Frankfurt am Main, Germany) and Papua New Guinea (TU). In the study III, herbarium specimens of Subulicystidium collected in several regions of Paleotropics (Réunion Island, Madagascar, Africa, South-East Asia) and Neotropics (Caribbean region, various countries of South America) were examined. This material was sampled during the last six decades, and preserved in the following herbaria: O (Natural History Museum, Oslo University, Norway), GB (Gothenburg University, Sweden), MG (Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Belém, Brasil), SP (Instituto de Botânica, São Paulo, Brasil), LY (University of Lyon, France), FR and KAS. Study III also involved the holotype specimens of Subulicystidium meridense Oberw. (TUB, Tübingen University, Germany), S. nikau (G. Cunn.) Jülich (PDD, New Zealand Fungal Herbarium, Landcare Research, Auckland) and the collection of S. allantosporum Boidin and Gilles ad interim (Boidin and Gilles 1988) from LY.

Sequences

Throughout the study, we focused on the two markers representing nuclear ribosomal DNA: internal transcribed spacer (ITS) and ribosomal large subunit-coding DNA (28S). We generated most of the sequences in the studies I–III by ourselves. When we required additional public DNA sequences, they were downloaded from the GenBank (Benson et al. 2013) and UNITE (Kõljalg et al. 2013) databases.

Observations

If the species could be readily identified in the field, the occurrence could have been recorded and published without collecting a specimen, i.e. as observation. In this way we could generate 691 observations in the study I, and they also became a part of the input data for eastern Ukraine in the study IV. Additionally, 16 observations from the land of Hesse, Germany, contributed to the species list of this area in the study IV.

Public occurrence data

Biogeographic studies often involve data recorded by other researchers and institutions. For the study IV, we used the approach described by Hortal (2008) as "aggregating survey records", which assumes assembling local checklists from sites of known limits and areas of varying size. We assembled species lists of fungi from 39 European areas including adjacent southern geographic areas (Palestine and the south-east coast of the Caspian Sea) and Subarctic to Arctic islands (Greenland, Faroe Islands, Iceland, Svalbard). We and other authors of the study IV provided species lists for 16 areas, and the rest were obtained from literature or web sources. All species names were standardized according to the database Index Fungorum (2018).

Environmental data

In the study IV, areas were assigned either to northern or southern Europe based on geographical latitude of 50° as a threshold. Apart from the classification of each of the areas into biogeographical regions following European Environmental Agency (EAA 2015), we obtained data on several variables potentially driving species composition using QGis 2.10 software (http://www.qgis.org/). We pooled all environmental data for administrative units, and used average values per area in ecological analyses. Climatic data was extracted from the WorldClim 1.4 database (Hijmans et al. 2005). We selected climatic variables which were not strongly correlated (Pearson's r<0.7), and so retained annual mean temperature (BIO1), total precipitation (BIO12), seasonal variation of these two parameters (BIO4 and BIO15, respectively) and mean temperature of the wettest quarter (BIO8).

The distribution data of the 15 most common European tree genera/species (taxonomic resolution varied in the original dataset) were obtained from Brus et al. (2012) and transformed to the relative occupancies of each tree taxon (IV). We used the Human Footprint score (mean value for area) as an integrated measure of land-use intensity (Sanderson et al. 2002, WCS & CIESIN 2005). Finally, we calculated topographic variables of area size, perimeter, mean altitude, as well as geographic coordinates of the areas' centroids.

Morphological study

In the studies II and III, fruitbody sections from dried herbarium specimens were examined in 3% aqueous solution of potassium hydroxyde (KOH) mixed with 1% aqueous solution of Phloxine, using 100× immersion oil lens of Leica DM500 light microscope. Images were captured with built-in ICC 50 HD Camera using Leica Application Suite EZ V.3.2.1 software (Leica Microsystems Ltd., Switzerland). Measurements were done with the software "Makroaufmaßprogramm" from Jens Rüdig (https://ruedig.de/tmp/messprogramm.htm). At least 10 basidia and cystidia were measured per specimen, and their size variation was presented as the range between minimum and maximum values for the pooled measurements of all collections belonging to one species. Encrustation patterns were always described as seen under the light microscope.

At least 30 basidiospores were measured per specimen. In the study III, for a more comprehensive assessment of the spore size variation, the raw spore measurements were first subjected to outlier tests of Verma and Quiroz-Ruiz (2006), David et al. (1954) and Grubbs (1950) implemented in the "Smaff" software (Wilk 2012). Upon detecting, outliers were excluded from the sample as recommended by Wilk (2012) and in this form provided in the online Supplementary file 2 to the study III.

These filtered spore measurements were used to calculate spore size range of the species. The main range was presented as the interval into which 90% of non-outlier measurements fall, while 5% of smallest and 5% largest non-outlier measurements were included in parentheses. Calculations were done in R version 3.3.3 (R Core Team 2017). For species with at least three sequenced specimens, hypothetical intervals were calculated within which 90% of all existing individuals' specimen mean values lie based on the 90% probability level (Parmasto and Parmasto 1987). For this procedure, the method of Howe (1969) was used as implemented in the "normtol.int" function of the "tolerance" R package version 1.3.0 (Young 2010).

Molecular laboratory work

DNA was always obtained from dried fungal herbarium specimens. Total DNA was isolated according to the protocol of Izumitsu et al. (2012). Primer pairs used to amplify the complete ITS region were ITS1F/ITS4, ITS1/ITS4 and ITS1/ALR0 (White et al. 1990, Gardes and Bruns 1993, Collopy et al. 2001). The D1–D2 domains at the 5' end of 28S were amplified with primer pairs NL1/NL4 (O'Donnell 1992) and less frequently with LR0R/LR5 (Hopple and Vilgalys 1999).

PCRs of the *Trechispora* and *Subulicystidium* collections from Réunion Island were performed with the QIAGEN kit utilising Taq DNA polymerase (II). PCRs of the remaining *Subulicystidium* collections were performed with the BIOLINE kit utilising Mango-Taq DNA polymerase (III). Amplifications were performed in 96-well TGradient Thermocycler (Biometra, Göttingen, Germany). PCR with primer pairs ITS1F/ITS4, ITS1/ALRO and NL1/NL4 was set as initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min followed by 29 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 55°C for 45 s and extension at 72°C for 60 s; final elongation was done at 72°C for 7 min. In the protocol (II), PCR with primer pair LR0R/LR5 was performed with annealing temperature 52 °C while in (III) at 48°C.

PCR products were checked on 1% agarose gel stained with GelRed fluorescence dye (BIOTIUM, Hayward, CA, USA) in the Transilluminator Biometra Ti5 equipped with BioDocAnalyze software (Biometra GmbH, Göttingen, Germany). PCR products were cleaned with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit according to manufacturer's instructions (QIAGEN GmbH, Hilden, Germany). Sanger sequencing of purified products was performed in the facilities of the Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum (Frankfurt am Main, Germany), and by company GATC Biotech AG (Constance, Germany). The primers used for sequencing were identical to those used for amplification.

DNA sequence-based analyses

Raw sequence data were processed with the software Geneious version 5.6.7 (http://www.geneious.com, Kearse et al. 2012). For various sequence format conversions and alignments viewing, Mesquite version 3.40 (Maddison and Maddison 2018), AliView version 1.19 (Larsson 2014) and Seaview version 4 (Gouy et al. 2010) were used.

Sequences from each locus, ITS and 28S, were aligned online with MAFFT version 7 (Katoh et al. 2017), with L-INS-i algorithm and other settings as default. All phylogenetic analyses were performed using GTR+G evolutionary model. For Bayesian inference of phylogeny, MrBayes 3.2.3 (Ronquist et al. 2012) was used. Maximum likelihood analyses

were performed in RAxML 8.2.10 (Stamatakis 2014). Both RAxML and MrBayes were run on CIPRES Science Gateway V 3.3 (Miller et al., 2010, http://www.phylo.org). Resulting phylogenetic trees were first viewed in FigTree v. 1.4.2 (Rambaut 2014). Further visualization and annotation were done in R version 3.3.3 (R Core Team 2017) and Adobe Illustrator CS5 (Adobe Systems, San Jose, California, USA).

In the study III, morphologically outlined species were compared in terms of genetic distances estimated separately for the trimmed ITS and 28S alignments. For this, raw pairwise dissimilarities of sequences in each alignment were calculated, with the "dist.dna" function of "ape" R package where pairwise deletion option was set to "false" (Paradis et al. 2004). From these pairwise dissimilarities, intraspecific and interspecific variations were extracted and opposed to each other with the "sppDist", "maxInDist" and "nonConDist" functions of the "spider" R package (Brown et al. 2012) as recommended by Collins and Cruickshank (2012).

Ecological analyses

Study IV utilized a multi-step statistical framework which is explained in the following sections.

Gamma diversity and local species richness

All analyses were carried out using R version 3.3.3 (R Core Team 2017). Gamma diversity (i.e. the total species richness) of aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe was assessed in two ways: by constructing a sample-based accumulation curve (each area was considered a sample unit) and by applying several species richness estimators (Chao 2, Jacknife 1, Jacknife 2 and Bootstrap) using "speccacum" function of the "vegan" package (Oksanen et al. 2016).

We calculated the local species richness of aphyllophoroid fungi in the 39 European areas by summing their presences in each area. To study the relationship between species richness and environmental variables, we fitted generalized linear models (GLM) of the negative binomial family with log link function, using the "glm.nb" function from the "MASS" package (Venables and Ripley 2002).

Beta diversity

To evaluate differences in species composition across Europe, we applied the analytical framework of Baselga (2010), which decomposes beta diversity into the species turnover and nestedness components. For measuring beta diversity overall, we calculated multiple-site generalization of the Sørensen dissimilarity and derived from it multiple-site dissimilarity measures of turnover and nestedness (Baselga 2010), using "beta.multi" and "beta.sample" functions of the "betapart" R package (Baselga and Orme 2012). In this context, turnover is defined as the dissimilarity caused by substitution, of some species by others from one sampling unit to another, controlling for species richness differences. Nestedness is defined as a structured case of species richness difference, reaching the highest values when species in given species poor area are a perfect subset of species occurring in more species rich areas (Baselga and Leprieur 2015). To assess the variation of beta diversity across Europe, we compared multiple-site dissimilarity measures of Sørensen, turnover and nestedness between northern and southern Europe. We estimated the

significance in the differences of multiple-site beta diversity between two geographic belts of Europe using a permutation test (Collingridge 2013) based on an own R function which utilized "sample" function of the basic "base" package.

To assess pairwise differences in the species compositions between areas, we calculated Sørensen (1948) pairwise dissimilarity index, as well as its two components: pairwise dissimilarity index of Simpson (1943) which evaluates turnover, and the nestedness index developed by Baselga (2010). All three pairwise indices were calculated and automatically arranged into three symmetric matrices (hereinafter called Sørensen, turnover and nestedness matrices) with the "beta.pair" function of the "betapart" package (Baselga and Orme 2012). We further assessed whether the pairwise Sørensen, turnover and nestedness-resultant dissimilarities increase with a different rate (Pearson r) along the spatial distance between northern and southern Europe using permutation test (online Appendices S3.5-3.6 to the study IV).

Multivariate methods

To reduce the dimensionality of each of the three dissimilarity matrices and identify groups of areas with similar fungal assemblages, we applied an unweighted pair-group clustering method based on arithmetic averages, UPGMA (Borcard et al. 2011). We evaluated uncertainties in the resulting UPGMA dendrograms using the multiscale bootstrap procedure with the "recluster" package (Dapporto et al. 2013).

We evaluated the effects of the environmental variables separately for the Sørensen, turnover and nestedness matrices. For this, we performed constrained analysis of principal coordinates (CAP) on dissimilarity matrices using the "capscale" function of "vegan" package. To study directly the effect of the areas' biogeographical classification on the community composition, we built CAP models with single categorical variable specifying the assignment of each area to the European biogeographical regions (EAA 2015) as well as topography and land-use intensity. To disentangle the effect of biogeography on community composition, we built also alternative CAP models where the assignment to the biogeographical regions was replaced by the variables characterising climate and tree occupancies.

Data and protocols management

All data obtained in the study are accessible via relevant databases and/or as online supplementary files of the published papers.

The dataset of the study I (Ordynets et al. 2017) is hosted by PlutoF platform (http://dx.doi.org/10.15156/BIO/587471) and accessible from the latter under Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0). The source records compiled into the dataset are available in the dedicated PlutoF project "Ordynets 2007-2011 eastern Ukraine" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/38925). The specimen occurrence records may also be viewed in the GBIF occurrence dataset of CWU herbarium, Kharkiv, Ukraine (Savchenko 2017, https://doi.org/10.15468/kuspj6). All data resources are provided in online supplementary material 1 of also the study Ι (https://doi.org/10.3897/BDJ.5.e22426.suppl1).

For the study IV, among others, fungal species lists from three large areas were used. For the area of eastern Ukraine, the dataset of Ordynets et al. (2017) was a source of data. For Ukrainian Carpathians, specimens from PlutoF project "Ordynets Ukraine Transcarpathia" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/20827) were utilised. For the land of Hesse (Germany), using largely the list of Langer (2000), we could add additional occurrences based on specimens and observations recorded by Alexander Ordynets between 2013 and 2017. They can be accessed under the PlutoF project "Ordynets_Central Europe" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/24496). For the study IV in a whole, species presence-absence data, full list of data sources as well as descriptions of the areas are provided in the online supporting information to the paper (see online version of the paper at https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jbi.13203).

Species observations used in the studies I and IV are also accessible via pooled PlutoF observations dataset (PlutoF 2017, https://doi.org/10.15156/bio/587440).

Field data and photos of recent collections from Réunion Island stored in FR and KAS herbaria (II, III) are accessible via PlutoF project "Ordynets_Fungi of Reunion Island" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/26945) and as a part of GBIF occurrence dataset of the Senckenberg herbarium FR (Senckenberg... 2018, https://doi.org/10.15468/00aq5v). In the study III, Supplementary file 1 contains collecting information on all 144 specimens examined, including the results of data mining from the web when the original information was not complete.

DNA sequences generated for the study II were deposited in the UNITE database (Kõljalg et al. 2013) and their accession numbers are available in the Table 1 of the paper II. DNA sequences obtained in the study III are available in the GenBank (Benson et al. 2013) under accession numbers MH041511-MH041559 for ITS and MH041560-MH041610 for 28S region. Furthermore, in the study III, the multiple sequence alignments, details of phylogenetic analyses and trees generated in the study were deposited in TreeBASE: http://purl.org/phylo/treebase/phylows/study/TB2:S22473.

In the study III, morphological data were proceeded according to the protocols deposited at https://www.protocols.io and published by Ordynets and Denecke (2018) and (Ordynets 2018b). DNA sequences were analysed with the protocols of Ordynets (2018a) and (Ordynets 2018c), and phylogenetic tree visualizations done according to Ordynets (2018d).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

New species occurrence data (I-IV)

As each of the studies I–IV had a specific aim, they differed in the amount and type of biodiversity information generated and used (see Table 1 for summary). In general, number of species considered in a study varied between 18 (II) and 1,491 (IV).

Study I considered 2,727 specimens of aphyllophoroid fungi from eastern Ukraine. Study II considered eight specimens of *Trechispora* from Réunion and Papua New Guinea (TU). In the study III, 144 herbarium specimens of the genus *Subulicystidium* were examined. One hundred twenty-three specimens from the PlutoF project "Ordynets_Central Europe" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/24496) originate from Hesse, Germany, and were used to compile the species list of this area in the study IV. In the same way, 332 specimens from the PlutoF project "Ordynets Ukraine Transcarpathia" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/20827) contributed to the species list of Carpathians in the study IV.

Study I included 691 species observations from eastern Ukraine, which were also used in the study IV together with additional 16 observations from Hesse, Germany. In total, study IV considered 14,030 species occurrence facts. This number means counts of species presence facts and thus is lower than the number of raw species occurrence records checked when compiling species presence-absence matrix.

In the study I, we generated 19 ITS sequences and four 28S sequences and additionally used seven ITS and two 28S sequences from other studies (Table 1). In the study II, we generated six ITS sequences and four 28S sequences and used further public 21 sequence of ITS and 17 sequences of 28S for molecular analyses of *Trechispora*. In the study III, we obtained 49 sequences of ITS rDNA and 51 sequences of 28S rDNA region from *Subulicystidium* specimens. Additional ten ITS and six 28S public sequences of *Subulicystidium* and two ITS and two 28S sequences of *Brevicellicium* K.H. Larss. & Hjortstam were included in the molecular analyses.

	Occurrence record type				Number of nuclear ribosomal DNA sequences			
					Newly		Downloaded	
Study					obtained		from	
							databases	
	Species	Specimens	Observations	Public	ITS	28S	ITS	28S
				records				
Ι	349	2,727	691	-	19	4	7	2
II	18	8	-	_	6	4	21	17
III	18	144	_		49	51	12	8
IV	1,491	455	16	14,030*	-	-	_	_

Table 1. Usage of different types of biodiversity information in the study

* This number accounts for the species reported as specimens and/or observations in the study I as well as for records from Hesse, Germany, and Ukrainian Carpathians

In the study I, 287 photographs depicting diagnostic macro- and microscopic features of fungal fruitbodies as well as studied habitats were linked to the dataset. They can be viewed as files associated with specimens or study areas under the PlutoF project "Ordynets 2007-2011 eastern Ukraine" (https://plutof.ut.ee/#/study/view/38925). Among such linked files are our photographs of Dichomitus squalens (P. Karst.) D.A. Reid (specimen CWU 6509. https://plutof.ut.ee/#/specimen/view/1170949) see web page and Lenzites warnieri Durieu & (CWU 6505, Mont. see web page https://plutof.ut.ee/#/specimen/view/1170945) which illustrate the respective species in the latest key to European poroid fungi (Ryvarden and Melo 2014).

Two new Trechispora species with peculiar morphological and ecological traits (II)

In the study II, two new species of *Trechispora* were described: *T. cyatheae* Ordynets, Langer & K.H.Larss. and *T. echinocristallina* Ordynets, Langer & K.H.Larss. Both species were repeatedly collected in 2013 and 2015 in tropical rain forests of Réunion Island (West Indian Ocean). In addition to Réunion, we reported *T. echinocristallina* from Papua New Guinea. Maximum likelihood and Bayesian inference of phylogeny based on rDNA concatenated ITS and LSU dataset confirmed that two new species belong to *Trechispora* and are distinct from all currently sequenced species of this genus (II).

Trechispora cyatheae has very small basidiospores not exceeding 3.5 µm length. The species was hitherto found exclusively on dead frond stipes of the tree fern *Cyathea glauca* which is endemic to Réunion. Up to now there is no records from two other *Cyathea* species also found on island (*C. borbonica* Desv. and *C. excelsa* Sw.) but occurring all over Mascarene archipelago (Grangaud 2010). Future observations on Réunion are needed to verify whether it is a case of narrow ecological specialization.

Trechispora echinocristallina has unique crystal aggregations composed of thickwalled crystalline spheres, covered by numerous radially protruding needle-like crystals. This crystal configuration was hitherto not known in Trechisporales. Species *T. echinocristallina* has thick dimitic fruitbodies (with skeletal hyphae) but in phylogenetic analyses was recovered nested among several monomitic species (having no skeletal but only generative hyphae). Therefore, we provided here the first molecular confirmation for keeping dimitic *Trechispora* species together with monomitic ones. *Trechispora echinocristallina* was found on tiny woody and non-woody forest debris and soil. It demonstrates well a non-true wood-decaying habit of *Trechispora* that was noted by Larsson (1992). A number of ITS sequences of *Trechispora* from soil are currently known (Högberg et al. 2014). As indigenous ectomycorrhizal host trees are missing on Réunion (Triolo 2014), it may indicate a saprotrophic lifestyle for *T. echinocristallina*.

Subulicystidium: twice more species than known before (III)

In study III, we described 11 new species of *Subulicystidium* based on morphological evidence and rDNA ITS and 28S sequence analyses. The new species are:

- Subulicystidium boidinii Ordynets, M.M.Striegel & Langer
- S. fusisporum Ordynets & K.H.Larss.

- S. grandisporum Ordynets & K.H.Larss.
- S. harpagum Ordynets, M.M.Striegel & K.H.Larss.
- S. inornatum Ordynets & K.H.Larss.
- S. oberwinkleri Ordynets, Riebesehl & K.H. Larss.
- S. parvisporum Ordynets & Langer
- S. rarocrystallinum Ordynets & K.H.Larss.
- S. robustius K.H.Larss. & Ordynets
- S. ryvardenii Ordynets & K.H.Larss.
- S. tedersooi Ordynets, Scherf & Langer

Ten of these new species are characterized by a unique combination of basidiospore and cystidium morphology, and rDNA sequence identity. Only in one species (*S. ryvardenii*) DNA could not be amplified but the morphological evidence itself was sufficient for describing it as a new species. Morphological and DNA-evidenced borders were revised for the five previously known species: *S. naviculatum* Oberw., *S. nikau* (G.Cunn.) Jülich, *S. obtusisporum* Duhem & H.Michel, *S. brachysporum* (P.H.B.Talbot & V.C.Green) Jülich and *S. meridense* Oberw.

We estimated species-level variation in basidiospore size and shape based on systematic measurements of 2840 spores from 67 sequenced specimens of *Subulicystidium*. We defined three groups of species according to the principal basidiospore shape: species with fusiform, cylindric and allantoid basidiospores. We found that some of the species could be delimited based on the basidiospore morphology solely, while for other species this was not possible and additional morphological characters had to be considered.

The species with fusiform basidiospores were barely distinguishable according to the basidiospore length. It varied generally from 8 to 11 μ m, while the mean value did not exceed 10 μ m. The only exception was *S. fusisporum* which had spores 10.7–12.3 μ m long (main range, i.e. 5–95% quantiles of measurements data) and 11.5 μ m long in average. However, spore width and length to width ratio were useful to discriminate the species *S. naviculatum*, *S. ryvardenii* and *S. tedersooi*. Two species, viz. *S. robustius* and *S. inornatum* were indistinguishable in the spore width (2.5–3.5 μ m) but each had peculiar cystidia.

Among the species with allantoid (i.e. reniform or phaseoliform) spores, *S. oberwinkleri* had distinctly the largest spores (mean length and width 9.2 and 4.7 μ m, respectively). *S. nikau* could be distinguished from *S. boidinii* by broader spores (mean width 4.2 μ m vs. 3.1 μ m). Two species, *S. harpagum* and *S. parvisporum*, had rather overlapping spore width and length to width ratio but differed in the spore length: 5.6–8.3 μ m (mean 6.7 μ m) in the former versus 5.0–6.2 μ m (mean 5.6 μ m) in the latter.

Species with cylindric basidiospores were well distinguished by the mean spore length: 12.7 μ m in *S. grandisporum*, 10.7 μ m in *S. obtusisporum* and 9.2 μ m in *S. rarocrystallinum*. The collections of the meridense-brachysporum morphogroup had shorter spores and were less clearly distinguishable.

Phylogenetic trees built with Bayesian and Maximum likelihood algorithms for ITS and 28S dataset showed a concordant pattern of species relationship. Monophyletic and polyphyletic taxa as well as several species represented by a single sequence could be found. Species with the holotype from Réunion, viz. *S. parvisporum, S. harpagum* and *S. boidinii*, were recovered as sister taxa. *S. robustius* was recovered as a distinct clade from Neotropics

subtended by a long branch. *S. fusisporum* from Caribbean region is a sister species to *S. tedersooi* from Vietnam.

With our contribution, the number of the known species in the genus *Subulicystidium* now totals 20. With account to the newly obtained data, we provided the key to the genus *Subulicystidium* (III).

Subulicystidium brachysporum and S. meridense are polyphyletic (III)

In the study III, we found that, despite differences in the protologues, morphospecies *S. brachysporum* and *S. meridense* are hard to separate morphologically. Analysing numerous rDNA sequences from different localities showed that currently molecular basis for delimitation of these two species is also weak.

Reviewing taxonomic literature on *Subulicystidium* brought us to delineating two morphogroups in the species *S. brachysporum*, according to the views of the earlier authors. Talbot (1958), while describing *Peniophora longispora* var. *brachyspora*, characterized its basidiospores as "elliptic-fusoid, $6.4-8 \times 2.2-3.2 \,\mu\text{m}$... sometimes with a faint band about the middle". Boidin and Gilles (1988) described the basidiospores of *S. brachysporum* from Réunion as elliptic in frontal face and bananiform (cylindric with slightly attenuated apex, slightly curved) in lateral face, $7.5-10 \times 2-2.5(-3) \,\mu\text{m}$. Therefore, we differentiated groups of (i) *S. brachysporum* sensu Talbot, i.e. sensu typi, with straight oblong-elliptic basidiospores having long attenuated base, with the mean length below 7.5 μm and mean length to width ratio hardly reaching 3; and (ii) *S. brachysporum* sensu Boidin and Gilles with cylindric and slightly curved basidiospores with the mean length over 7.5 μm and length to width ratio between 3 and 4. When describing *S. meridense*, Oberwinkler (1977) stressed the importance of allantoid, i.e. clearly curved, basidiospores. We adhered to this concept assigning our collections to *S. meridense*. We named those with similar spore size but with straight cylindric spores "*Subulicystidium* aff. *meridense*".

Morphological comparison showed that *S. brachysporum* sensu Boidin and Gilles (1988) had in average slightly longer basidiospores than *S. brachysporum* sensu Talbot (1958), viz. 7.9 μ m versus 7.3 μ m. Curved spores of the classical *S. meridense* were in average shorter than straight spores of *S.* aff. *meridense*, viz. 6.9 μ m versus 8.2 μ m. Spores in the type specimen of *S. meridense* were of the intermediate average length compared to the two former examples (7.4 μ m). The spore width and length to width ratio were very much overlapping in the material of meridense-brachysporum morphogroup.

Four morphological groups, two within *S. brachysporum* and two within *S. meridense*, were not recovered as distinct using DNA sequence similarity analyses and phylogenetic reconstructions. All sequences of *S. brachysporum* and *S. meridense* with their likes were found in four clades of ITS- and 28S-based phylogenetic trees. One such clade contained also single sequences of *S. obtusisporum* from Germany and *S. harpagum* from Jamaica. Second clade included more collections of *S. brachysporum*, mostly sensu Boidin and Gilles (1988), and less of *S. meridense*, but also a single sequence of *S. grandisporum*. Third large clade was roughly equally rich on sequences of *S. brachysporum* and *S. meridense* and joined by a single sequence of *S. inornatum*. One sequence of *S. brachysporum* (GB:KHL 10411) was placed in a clade, though weakly supported, with three sequences of *S.*

longisporum from Europe. Therefore, *S. brachysporum* and *S. meridense* in current understanding are highly polyphyletic.

Nuclear ribosomal DNA sequence variation in *Subulicystidium* upon a comprehensive taxon sampling (III)

To asses a variability of nrDNA in *Subulicystidium* (III), we used own sequences of the ten new species and four known species. We also used public sequences of the species *S. longisporum* and *S. perlongisporum* and included two sequences of *Brevicellicium* as an outgroup.

Aligned ITS sequences fell into several dissimilarity categories. All the *Subulicystidium* sequences were at least 10% different from two *Brevicellicium* sequences (outgroup), as well as from single sequence of *Subulicystidium oberwinkleri*. The sequences of *S. robustius* were at least 3% and maximum 10% different from the rest of the genus. The sequences of *S. harpagum* and *S. parvisporum* were most distant from *S. robustius* (7–10%) and 3-7% distant from the rest of the genus. Sequences mostly belonging to morphospecies *S. meridense* and *S. brachysporum* formed four groups within which they were all 0-3% (in many cases only up to 1%) dissimilar. One of these groups included also sequences of *S. fusisporum* and *S. tedersooi*, another group—*S. longisporum* and *S. grandisporum* and the third—single sequence of *S. obtusisporum*. Therefore, both easier and harder distinguishable species, in terms of ITS region identity, were found in the dataset.

The pattern seen through a visual inspection of the ITS sequence dissimilarity matrix was confirmed by the barcoding gap analysis. Throughout the dataset, intraspecific and interspecific distances strongly overlapped and no universal for the genus *Subulicystidium* barcoding gap could be detected. Mean and maximal intraspecific distances were 2.87 and 7.73%, while mean and minimal interspecific distances were 5.06 and 0%, respectively. At the level of individual species, barcode gap existed for *S. fusisporum*, *S. parvisporum*, *S. robustius* and *S. tedersooi*.

Pairwise 28S sequence dissimilarities were structured differently compared to the ITS dataset. The most distinct species in terms of 28S identity was *S. oberwinkleri*. The dissimilarity of its two sequences from the rest of *Subulicystidium* and two *Brevicellicium* sequences was 10-20%. The next most distinct group was formed by the sequences of *S. harpagum* and *S. parvisporum* which were 7–10% dissimilar from the rest of the genus except one group containing *S. meridense* and *S. brachysporum* sequences (2–3%). The majority of dissimilarities laid in the range 1-5% and were clearly grouped.

In a whole 28S dataset, intraspecific and interspecific distances strongly overlapped and thus showed no universal for the genus *Subulicystidium* barcode gap. Mean and maximal intraspecific distances were 2.52 and 12.5%, while mean and minimal interspecific distances were 5.58 and 0%, respectively. At the level of individual species, barcoding gap was evident for *S. oberwinkleri*, *S. fusisporum*, and *S. robustius*.

Geographical distribution of the newly introduced and revised taxa (II, III)

The type species of the genus *Subulicystidium*, *S. longisporum*, is often reported and mapped in mycodiversity surveys worldwide (e.g. see Subulicystidium..., 2017). In contrast, other species are still known either from the type locality only (*S. curvisporum*)

Gorjón, Gresl. & Rajchenb.), or from a few localities: *S. cochleum* Punugu, *S. meridense* Oberw., *S. naviculatum* Oberw., *S. nikau* (G. Cunn.) Jülich and *S. obtusisporum* Duhem & H. Michel (Punugu et al. 1980, Gorjón et al. 2012). Some species records represent more than one continent but in all cases these reports are based on a morphological species concept (Boidin and Gilles 1988, Duhem and Michel 2001, Volobuev 2016).

Our study III was based on morphological examination and DNA sequencing of a large set of specimens from numerous localities in Paleo- and Neotropics. We could gain the first information on the distribution of new species. For example, S. robustius is in fact a frequently occurring species in the Caribbean region and in South America. On the other hand, we could report a multicontinental distribution for several species, verified by DNA sequence data. S. brachysporum, S. boidinii, S. harpagum and S. oberwinkleri are typified by material from Paleotropics (South Africa in the first species and Réunion in three others), but were found by us also in South America. The morphospecies S. meridense, described from Venezuela (Oberwinkler 1977) and later found in Costa Rica (Kisimova-Horovitz et al. 1997), was also found on Réunion Island by Boidin and Gilles (1988). In addition to sequenced collections from a few more countries in South America, we confirmed the species presence on Réunion by sequencing collections of Boidin and Gilles (1988). In this study, we report S. meridense for the first time from South-East Asia (Taiwan). The new species S. fusisporum was first considered by us as a Caribbean endemic. Re-identification as S. fusisporum of the specimen collected by G. Gilles in Côte D'ivoire (LY 7375, originally labelled as S. longisporum, DNA could not be amplified) may suggest that species occurs in West Africa as well.

We typified the new species *Trechispora echinocristallina* by specimen from Réunion Island. When performing BLAST similarity search of ribosomal DNA from Reunionese specimens, we found highly similar sequence from the unidentified fruitbody from Papua New Guinea (collected in 2011 and preserved in TU). After studying this collection, we confirmed its morphological identity with Réunionese material (II). Therefore, distribution of *T. echinocristallina* covers two very distant tropical localities.

It was surprising for us to find the species occurring on more than one continent or on islands separated by thousands of kilometres. For fungi with spores carried by wind, dispersal limitation was shown to act strongly even at small spatial scales (Peay et al. 2010, Norros et al. 2012). Given the architecture and location of *Subulicystidium* and *Trechispora* fruitbodies (next to the ground, not rarely underside of the logs), one would expect prevailing spore dispersal distance smaller than 1 m (Galante et al. 2011). However, in macrofungi there remains a probability of spore travel on a distance of kilometres (Nordén and Larsson 2000, Peay et al. 2012, Norros et al. 2014) and also overseas (Geml et al. 2012). Spore morphology traits have been recently discussed in a connection to dispersal and arrival success of a species (Norros et al. 2014, Calhim et al. 2018). In this regard, the genus *Subulicystidium*, with a high diversity of spore size and shape between species, is an interesting object to correlate spore traits and biogeography in future studies.

Comprehensive account of the known aphyllophoroid fungal diversity in Europe (IV)

In the study IV, we first analysed patterns of fungal alpha-diversity in relation to the plant-based biogeographical regions (EAA 2015). From the 39 European areas we

assembled 14,030 records of 1,491 fungal species. The species accumulation curve indicated a very thorough sampling of European aphyllophoroid species in our data, but richness estimators indicated the total species richness to be 142-461 species larger than observed. Our predictions of species richness were almost identical to those performed by Mueller et al. (2007), who, based on the opinion of expert taxonomists, estimated the existence of about 1,900 aphyllophoroid species in Europe. Most likely, the most underrepresented group of aphyllophoroid fungi in our dataset are species with smooth effused ephemeral fruitbodies that are often overlooked in field studies (Abrego and Salcedo 2015), and are known to encompass many cryptic species (e.g. Balasundaram et al., 2015).

Spatial variation of species richness of aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe (IV)

Among the plant-based biogeographical regions, the Arctic region held the least species (52.6 on average) while the Alpine, Atlantic, Boreal and Continental biogeographical regions all harboured at least 200 species (404.9 on average) with no significant differences among regions. However, there was a clear trend of decreasing species richness towards the southern biogeographical regions (Mediterranean — 291.5 species, Steppic — 296.5 species, and Hyrcania — 304.0 species).

Since many aphyllophoroid fungi are associated with dead wood, their lowest species richness in the Arctic was not surprising. The diversity of woody hosts and amounts of dead wood are very limited in Arctic areas. Results from recent studies suggest that aphyllophoroid fungal communities in Arctic areas are to a large extent explained by arrival of pre-colonized driftwood which originates from non-Arctic parts of Europe, Asia and North America (Rämä et al. 2014, Ryvarden 2015). Interestingly, we also found a trend of decreasing species richness and increasing turnover towards southern areas (Mediterranean, Steppic biogeoregions and south-east coast of the Caspian Sea). These regions are the richest in plant species and also harbour the highest diversity of woody hosts. Studies from other continents support the finding that the highest aphyllophoroid fungal species richness is found at middle latitudes and decreases towards the north and south (Mukhin 1993, Shiryaev 2014, Gonzalez-Avila et al. 2016), indicating that aphylloporoid fungal diversity might generally be lower in warm and/or dry regions. This could reflect that the often long-lasting aphyllophoroid fruitbodies are poorly adapted to stressful climates, which typically involve strong fluctuations in humidity and extreme temperatures. Shift to insect-driven wood decomposition, which is enhanced in warmer climates (Müller et al. 2015) may be a further explanation to the lower aphyllophoroid diversity in these regions.

Spatial variation of community composition of European aphyllophoroid fungi in Europe (IV)

In the study IV, we further analysed patterns of fungal beta-diversity in relation to the plant-based biogeographical regions (EAA 2015) and in relation to the areas' location in southern versus northern Europe. The Sørensen beta diversity value for the total fungal dataset was 0.92. The turnover component of beta diversity dominated over the nestedness component (β_{SIM} =0.84 versus β_{SNE} = 0.08), resulting in the proportional contributions to the total beta diversity of 91% and 9%, respectively.

Overall Sørensen beta diversity, as well as turnover and nestedness, was higher in northern compared to southern Europe based on the original datasets. However, the multiple site dissimilarity analysis (of equal-size resampled data) revealed that the Sørensen dissimilarity and nestedness were higher in southern Europe. Nevertheless, these differences were all insignificant based on permutation tests.

Pairwise dissimilarities between 39 areas were mostly positively related to spatial distances (Pearson *r* between 0.254 and 0.442, P <0.01). However, the strength of relationship was not different between southern and northern Europe based on permutation tests.

Both multiple-site and spatial beta diversity analyses showed that the beta-diversity gradients were similar in southern and northern Europe. Hereby our results resemble those obtained for bryophytes (in particular mosses), for which no differences in turnover and nestedness between southern and northern Europe have been detected (Mateo et al. 2016), indicating that climate and current habitat availability to be the main drivers of community composition.

We classified 39 European areas in relation to their fungal community composition. We found that aphyllophoroid fungal communities followed plant-based biogeographical regions to a large extent, but not as clearly as animal and plants (Heikinheimo et al. 2012). The clearest cluster in terms of community composition was formed by Arctic areas, most likely reflecting the low aphyllophoroid species richness in these areas. The cluster analyses also revealed that Mediterranean areas, south-east coast of the Caspian Sea in Iran and Steppic areas hold similar community composition. Mediterranean areas and SE coast of the Caspian Sea share a long history of similar climate and vegetation and represent glacial refugia for temperate European forest trees (Magri et al. 2006, Ghobad-Nejhad et al. 2012). A partly similar climate and geographical proximity of Steppic areas to Mediterranean areas and SE coast of the Caspian Sea may be a reason for their high similarity in fungal community composition. The community composition of Alpine, Atlantic, Boreal and Continental areas formed more complex cluster configurations. One of the reasons for this might be that some of the areas are located close to ecotones between biogeoregions and thus resemble the communities from neighbouring biogeoregions. For instance, the fungal composition of the Navarre (northern Spain), dominated by Atlantic beech forests, was more similar to Mediterranean areas than to other Atlantic areas. Likewise, the Continental area of Macedonia was closer to the Mediterranean biogeoregion than to other Continental areas. Another reason for the intermixing of biogeoregions might fall on the sensitivity of fungi to particular climatic conditions. For example, the Bavarian Forest, situated in area classified as Continental, held fungal community which clustered with Atlantic and Arctic areas, which might be explained by the high precipitation in this area (Bässler et al. 2010).

Different environmental drivers do matter for different diversity components (IV)

We modelled the fungal community composition and species richness of aphyllophoroid fungi in relation to biogeographical region, climate, host-tree distributions, topography and land-use intensity across Europe (IV). Our results show that the importance of biogeographical regions in determining European aphyllophoroid fungal communities varies for different diversity components. Species richness and nestedness were best explained by plant-based biogeographical regions. On the other hand, overall beta-diversity and species turnover were driven mostly by variation in climate, and nestedness mostly by tree species occupancy.

Although tree species composition was a statistically significant driver of turnover in aphyllophoroid communities, we expected this variable to be even more influential. Many of our study species are plant-associated with prominent host-specialisations, and communities of aphyllophoroid fungi found in conifer forests differ strongly from those found in deciduous forests (Hattori 2005, Stokland et al. 2012). However, Heilmann-Clausen et al. (2016) recently found that major clades of aphyllophoroid fungi are less host-specialist than several other fungal lineages, especially in the Ascomycota, probably reflecting a much stronger signal of co-evolution with hosts. It is hence likely that host distribution patterns may have a stronger impact on the biogeography of fungi in other lineages than aphyllophoroid fungi belong to.

A negative effect of land-use intensity was evident for species richness but not for community composition, and geographical variables were rather weak predictors of both species richness and community composition. This contrasts with results from European vascular plants and animals, for which the effect of non-climatic variables such as land-use intensity and geographical distance were found to be strongest (Svenning et al. 2008, 2011, Keil et al. 2012). Therefore, our results suggest that aphyllophoroid fungal communities are less shaped by historical legacies than plant and animal communities, at least at the continental scale.

CONCLUSIONS

Comprehensive knowledge of biodiversity is a prerequisite for its long-term conservation and sustainable use. Biodiversity knowledge has numerous aspects and encompasses naming of organisms, recording their occurrences and analysing the latter on various spatial and temporal scales. Fungi play crucial roles in ecosystems and are among the species-richest organism groups on Earth. However, all aspects of their diversity remain underexplored.

In this study, we aimed to fill the gaps in occurrence data and taxonomy as well as in understanding spatial diversity patterns of aphyllophoroid fungi. We have digitized and made openly accessible records of aphyllophoroid fungi from eastern and central Europe and several tropical areas. Numerous specimen records were associated with DNA sequences (ITS and 28S) and numerous observations also with photographs depicting diagnostic features of fungal fruitbodies. The assignments to the lifestyle and fruitbody principal configuration type (morph) were provided for each species in the occurrence datasets.

To provide a possibility to identify and communicate hitherto unknown tropical fungi, we described 13 new species belonging to *Trechispora* and *Subulicystidium*, based on morphological and molecular analyses of nrDNA ITS and 28S sequences. We revised also the morphological and genetic borders of the five previously known species of *Subulicystidium*. Using DNA-based evidence, in the studied lineage (Trechisporales), we showed for the first time a possibility of species presence on more than one continent or on islands separated by thousands of kilometres.

With the two new species described, we extend the knowledge on *Trechispora* diversity in tropics and furthermore proved the importance of crystals for species delimitation in this genus. The findings of *Trechispora cyatheae* on tree fern *Cyathea glauca* demonstrate the importance of looking at unusual (non-woody) substrata while making mycological observations. We expect further new taxa of aphyllophoroid fungi from non-woody substrata on Réunion Island and in other tropical areas.

With eleven newly described species of *Subulicystidium*, we showed that species diversity in the genus is at least twice higher than previously known. On the other hand, based on analyses ITS and 28S nrDNA, we revealed a clear barcode gap for some of the species but problems to delimitate the others. This challenges DNA-based species identification as practiced through DNA barcoding and warns of underestimating the morphological information for species delimitation. Careful morphological examination combined with nrDNA barcode data and evidence from other DNA markers is needed to delimitate species in *Subulicystidium*.

The species richness of aphyllophoroid fungi is mostly explained by plant-based biogeographical regions, with Arctic and Mediterranean regions holding fewer species than the other regions. At the continental scale, aphyllophoroid fungi are less shaped by historical legacies than vascular plant and animal communities, and trends of overall beta diversity in southern and northern Europe are similar to patterns found for bryophytes.

In spite of the comprehensive dataset of European aphyllophoroid fungi we used, we still found ambiguities when trying to biogeographically classify the areas. To overcome this problem, future studies in this line of research could use data collected by a regular-grid or with a finer spatial resolution than in our study and include some of still largely unexplored European areas (e.g. Southern and Eastern Europe). Moreover, comparing the spatial patterns of the species with different fruitbody traits, ecological strategies and phylogenetic relationships would help in gaining a more functional perspective on the diversity patterns of European aphyllophoroid fungi.

The dataset digitized and made openly accessible in study I shed new light on fungal diversity of Eastern Europe. Study IV provided an integrated overview of alpha and beta diversity patterns for European aphyllophoroid fungi, and revealed environmental drivers of these patterns. Studies II and III extended knowledge on taxonomic diversity and global distribution of aphyllophoroid fungi. Such literature is urgently needed to assist in tropical fungal inventories. Using a dataset covering nearly all *Subulicystidium* species known up to date (III), we provided a contribution towards better understanding of the ITS and 28S nrDNA variation in Fungi. Such information is crucial for the future development of the systems for automated DNA similarity-based fungal species identification.

The value of different research outcomes and views on how they should be communicated is now reconsidered by scientific community and general public (Gewin 2016). It is realized that research data, experimental methods and codes (scripts) for computer analyses are as important as research results and all contribute to the progress in particular discipline (Smith et al. 2013, McKiernan et al. 2016). All the research outcomes should be transparent and publicly available. However, they should also follow quality standards which make them easily discoverable and reusable by both humans and computers (Wilkinson et al. 2016). This should allow our society effectively address various challenges of the present and future (Bouchout Declaration 2014). We totally support this shift in views on publishing scientific outcomes. We see our contribution to the open biodiversity science by sharing all fungal occurrence records and associated information as DNA sequences and alignments, and analyses protocols. Our specimens and DNA sequences stored in a biodiversity data management platform PlutoF (https://plutof.ut.ee) are open for the alternative taxon identification, and our protocols deposited on https://www.protocols.io are most welcome for commenting and reuse.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Ewald Langer for his encouraging to undertake this scientific journey and his constant support during this time. I appreciate very much his advice on the scientific work and personal development. I thank to the University of Kassel for the possibility to addend conferences and workshops, and to the LOEWE-funded network for Integrative Fungal Research (IPF) for providing research facilities and forum to communicate results.

This study has benefited from the feedback and interesting discussions with my colleagues Janett Riebesehl, Manuel Striegel, Michael Schröder, Robert Meyn, Anna-Magdalena Barniske and Tatyana Tsykun, and from a large amount of lab work performed by Ulrike Frieling and Sylvia Heinemann. I am very happy that all these members of my workgroup and Kerstin Polikowski were also very kind and helpful to me in the issues which do not concern university but casual life and can be difficult for the person not (yet) speaking German.

There was an additional 'hotspot' of scientific collaboration and friendship for me in Germany, namely Marburg mycology group. I was every time happy to feel a hospitality and discuss mycology and more with Flavius Popa, Antje Heideroth, Johannes Ballauff, Karl-Heinz Rexer, Gerhard Kost and Matthias Theiss.

A broadly formulated topic of this thesis made me an honour to communicate with outstanding specialists who shared their rich experience of scientific writing. It is my pleasure to thank Nerea Abrego, Jacob Heilmann-Clausen and Claus Bässler for invaluable lessons of community ecology and hypothesis-driven research. At the same time, I am very grateful to Karl-Henrik Larsson for supporting my passion to taxonomy and highlighting the importance of careful work with raw DNA sequence data. I would like to thank all other co-authors with whom I had a chance to communicate during this study. I thank all providers of herbarium specimens and mycodiversity data who made this research possible. I thank to all peer reviewers and persons who commented on my manuscripts during the conferences and meetings. I thank to reviewers of this thesis for their time and interest to the work.

I would like to thank Anton Savchehko, Kessy Abarenkov and Allan Zirk for their excellent support in managing mycodiversity data. I thank Felix Pansegrau, David Scherf, Jonathan Denecke and Ludmila Lysenko who decided to perform their undergraduate studies under my supervision and carefully followed the complicated protocols which should enhance data reusability by their successors and myself.

My skills and views on the research standards would not be as they are without a contact to mycologists from Tartu University. I am pleased to communicate and learn from Urmas Kõljalg, Kadri Põldmaa, Mohammad Bahram, Leho Tedersoo, Heidi Tamm, Jane Oja, Irja Saar and other members of their team.

I express my huge thank to Alexander Akulov who lighted up my passion to mycology and science in general. The time we dedicated to collecting and identifying fungi and to other activities will always stay on a special place in my soul. I acknowledge Andrey Usichenko and Eugene Yurchenko for showing me a beauty of morphology in aphyllophoroid fungi as early as in my late years of secondary school. Furthermore, I thank Oleh Prylutskyi and Iryna Yatsiuk for keeping a spirit of camaraderie between us.

Starting this PhD study in the late 2013 meant leaving my hometown Kharkiv in Ukraine and moving some two thousand kilometres westward to Kassel, Germany. I know

that for my parents realizing and accepting this was not an easy and momentary process. I thank most deeply them and my sister for understanding and constant interest to all of my challenges. Unfortunately, finalising this study happens without my father who passed away in September 2017. I believe he would be very happy and proud of me as do so my mother and sister, parents in-law and cousins with their families when see this study put on a paper.

During this study I got much more than working experience, and my life changed incredibly after creating own family. I thank to my wife Olga and to my daughters Uljana and Sophia for their love, their excellence in recharging my power batteries and for tolerating my stay at the university instead of home some late evenings and weekends.

REFERENCES

- Abarenkov K, Tedersoo L, Nilsson RH, Vellak K, Saar I, Veldre V, Parmasto E, Prous M, Aan A, Ots M, Kurina O, Ostonen I, Jõgeva J, Halapuu S, Põldmaa K, Toots M, Truu J, Larsson K-H, Kõljalg U (2010) PlutoF—a Web Based Workbench for Ecological and Taxonomic Research, with an Online Implementation for Fungal ITS Sequences. Evolutionary Bioinformatics Online 6: 189–196. doi: 10.4137/EBO.S6271
- Abrego N, Bässler C, Christensen M, Heilmann-Clausen J (2015) Implications of reserve size and forest connectivity for the conservation of wood-inhabiting fungi in Europe. Biological Conservation 191: 469–477. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2015.07.005
- Abrego N, Christensen M, Bässler C, Ainsworth AM, Heilmann-Clausen J (2017) Understanding the distribution of wood-inhabiting fungi in European beech reserves from species-specific habitat models. Fungal Ecology 27: 168–174. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2016.07.006
- Abrego N, Salcedo I (2015) Taxonomic gap in wood-inhabiting fungi: identifying understudied groups by a systematic survey. Fungal Ecology 15: 82–85. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2015.01.005
- Amano T, Lamming JDL, Sutherland WJ (2016) Spatial Gaps in Global Biodiversity Information and the Role of Citizen Science. BioScience 66: 393–400. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biw022
- van Andel TR, Croft S, van Loon EE, Quiroz D, Towns AM, Raes N (2015) Prioritizing West African medicinal plants for conservation and sustainable extraction studies based on market surveys and species distribution models. Biological Conservation 181: 173–181. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.015
- Andrew C, Heegaard E, Halvorsen R, Martinez-Peña F, Egli S, Kirk PM, Bässler C, Büntgen U, Aldea J, Høiland K, Boddy L, Kauserud H (2016) Climate impacts on fungal community and trait dynamics. Fungal Ecology 22: 17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2016.03.005
- Andrew C, Heegaard E, Kirk PM, Bässler C, Heilmann-Clausen J, Krisai-Greilhuber I, Kuyper TW, Senn-Irlet B, Büntgen U, Diez J, Egli S, Gange AC, Halvorsen R, Høiland K, Nordén J, Rustøen F, Boddy L, Kauserud H (2017) Big data integration: Pan-European fungal species observations' assembly for addressing contemporary questions in ecology and global change biology. Fungal Biology Reviews 31: 88–98. doi: 10.1016/j.fbr.2017.01.001
- Auger-Rozenberg M-A, Torres-Leguizamon M, Courtin C, Rossi J-P, Kerdelhué C (2015) Incongruent evolutionary histories of two parasitoids in the Mediterranean Basin: influence of host specialization and ecological characteristics. Journal of Biogeography 42: 1040–1051. doi: 10.1111/jbi.12495
- Balasundaram S V., Engh IB, Skrede I, Kauserud H (2015) How many DNA markers are needed to reveal cryptic fungal species? Fungal Biology 119: 940–945. doi: 10.1016/j.funbio.2015.07.006
- Baselga A (2010) Partitioning the turnover and nestedness components of beta diversity. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19: 134–143. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00490.x
- Baselga A, Leprieur F (2015) Comparing methods to separate components of beta diversity Spencer M (Ed). Methods in Ecology and Evolution 6: 1069–1079. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12388
- Baselga A, Orme CDL (2012) betapart: an R package for the study of beta diversity. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 3: 808–812. doi: 10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00224.x

- Bässler C, Müller J, Dziock F, Brandl R (2010) Effects of resource availability and climate on the diversity of wood-decaying fungi. Journal of Ecology 98: 822–832. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01669.x
- Begerow D, Nilsson H, Unterscher M, Maier W (2010) Current state and perspectives of fungal DNA barcoding and rapid identification procedures. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 87: 99–108. doi: 10.1007/s00253-010-2585-4
- Benson DA, Cavanaugh M, Clark K, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Lipman DJ, Ostell J, Sayers EW (2013) GenBank. Nucleic Acids Research 41: D36--42. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1195
- Bernicchia A, Gorjón SP (2010) Corticiaceae s.l. Fungi Europaei No 12. Ed. Candusso, Italia.
- Blackwell M (2011) The Fungi: 1, 2, 3 ... 5.1 million species? American Journal of Botany 98: 426–438. doi: 10.3732/ajb.1000298
- Boidin J, Gilles G (1988) Basidiomycètes aphyllophorales de l'Ile de la Réunion. XII: Le genre Subulicystidium Parmasto. Bulletin trimestriel de la Société mycologique de France 104: 191–198. Available from: http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=7053739 (November 10, 2014).
- Bonpland A, Humboldt A von (1805) Essai sur la géographie des plantes :accompagné d'un tableau physique des régions équinoxiales, fondé sur des mesures exécutées, depuis le dixième degré de latitude boréale jusqu'au dixième degré de latitude australe, pendant les années 1799,. Chez Levrault, Schoell et compagnie, libraires, A Paris, :, 1-155 pp. doi: 10.5962/bhl.title.9309
- Borcard D, Gillet F, Legendre P (2011) Numerical Ecology with R. Springer New York, New York, NY. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-7976-6
- Bouchout Declaration (2014) The Bouchout Declaration for Open Biodiversity Knowledge Management. Available from: http://www.bouchoutdeclaration.org/declaration/ (May 9, 2018).
- Brown SDJ, Collins RA, Boyer S, Lefort MC, Malumbres-Olarte J, Vink CJ, Cruickshank RH (2012) Spider: An R package for the analysis of species identity and evolution, with particular reference to DNA barcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources 12: 562–565. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-0998.2011.03108.x
- Brus DJ, Hengeveld GM, Walvoort DJJ, Goedhart PW, Heidema AH, Nabuurs GJ, Gunia K (2012) Statistical mapping of tree species over Europe. European Journal of Forest Research 131: 145–157. doi: 10.1007/s10342-011-0513-5
- Calhim S, Halme P, Petersen JH, Læssøe T, Bässler C, Heilmann-Clausen J (2018) Fungal spore diversity reflects substrate-specific deposition challenges. Scientific Reports 8: 5356. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23292-8
- Clemmensen KE, Bahr A, Ovaskainen O, Dahlberg A, Ekblad A, Wallander H, Stenlid J, Finlay RD, Wardle DA, Lindahl BD (2013) Roots and Associated Fungi Drive Long-Term Carbon Sequestration in Boreal Forest. Science 339: 1615–1618. doi: 10.1126/science.1231923
- Collingridge DS (2013) A Primer on Quantitized Data Analysis and Permutation Testing. Journal of Mixed Methods Research 7: 81–97. doi: 10.1177/1558689812454457
- Collins RA, Cruickshank RH (2012) The seven deadly sins of DNA barcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources 13: 969–975. doi: 10.1111/1755-0998.12046
- Collopy PD, Largeteau-Mamoun ML, Romaine CP, Royse DJ (2001) Molecular Phylogenetic Analyses of Verticillium fungicola and Related Species Causing Dry Bubble Disease of the Cultivated Button Mushroom, Agaricus bisporus. Phytopathology 91: 905–912. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO.2001.91.9.905
- Dahlberg A, Genney DR, Heilmann-Clausen J (2010) Developing a comprehensive strategy for fungal conservation in Europe: current status and future needs. Fungal Ecology 3:

50-64. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2009.10.004

- Dapporto L, Ramazzotti M, Fattorini S, Talavera G, Vila R, Dennis RLH (2013) Recluster: An unbiased clustering procedure for beta-diversity turnover. Ecography 36: 1070– 1075. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.00444.x
- David HA, Hartley HO, Pearson ES (1954) The Distribution of the Ratio, in a Single Normal Sample, of Range to Standard Deviation. Biometrika 41: 482. doi: 10.2307/2332728
- Davison J, Moora M, Öpik M, Adholeya A, Ainsaar L, Bâ A, Burla S, Diedhiou AG, Hiiesalu I, Jairus T, Johnson NC, Kane A, Koorem K, Kochar M, Ndiaye C, Pärtel M, Reier Ü, Saks Ü, Singh R, Vasar M, Zobel M (2015) Global assessment of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus diversity reveals very lowendemism. Science 127: 970–973. doi: 10.5061/dryad.2m15n
- Desprez-Loustau M-L, Robin C, Buée M, Courtecuisse R, Garbaye J, Suffert F, Sache I, Rizzo DM (2007) The fungal dimension of biological invasions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 22: 472–480. doi: 10.1016/J.TREE.2007.04.005
- Duhem B, Michel H (2001) Contribution à la connaissance du genre Subulicystidium Parmasto 1968 (Basidiomycota, Xenasmatales). Cryptogamie Mycologie 22: 163–173. doi: 10.1016/S0181-1584(01)01067-3
- EAA (2015) European Environment Agency, Biogeographical Regions, Europe 2015. Available from: http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/biogeographicalregions-europe-2 (August 27, 2015).
- Galante TE, Horton TR, Swaney DP (2011) 95% of basidiospores fall within 1 m of the cap: a field-and modeling-based study. Mycologia 103: 1175–1183. doi: 10.3852/10-388
- Gardes M, Bruns TD (1993) ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes, application to the identification of mycorrihiza and rusts. Molecular Ecology 2: 113–118. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-294x.1993.Tb00005.X
- GBIF.org (2018) GBIF Home Page. Available from: https://www.gbif.org (April 22, 2018).
- Geml J, Timling I, Robinson CH, Lennon N, Nusbaum HC, Brochmann C, Noordeloos ME, Taylor DL (2012) An arctic community of symbiotic fungi assembled by long-distance dispersers: phylogenetic diversity of ectomycorrhizal basidiomycetes in Svalbard based on soil and sporocarp DNA. Journal of Biogeography 39: 74–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02588.x
- Gewin V (2016) Data sharing: An open mind on open data. Nature 529: 117–119. doi: 10.1038/nj7584-117a
- Ghobad-Nejhad M, Hallenberg N, Hyvönen J, Yurchenko E (2012) The Caucasian corticioid fungi: level of endemism, similarity, and possible contribution to European fungal diversity. Fungal Diversity 52: 35–48. doi: 10.1007/s13225-011-0122-0
- Gonzalez-Avila PA, Luna-Vega I, Garcia-Sandoval R, Contreras-Medina R (2016)
 Distributional patterns of the Order Gomphales (Fungi: Basidiomycota) in Mexico.
 Tropical Conservation Science 9: 1940082916667140. doi: 10.1177/1940082916667140
- Gorjón SP, Greslebin AG, Rajchenberg M (2012) Subulicystidium curvisporum sp. nov. (Hymenochaetales, Basidiomycota) from the Patagonian Andes. Mycotaxon 118: 47–52. doi: 10.5248/118.47
- Gouy M, Guindon S, Gascuel O (2010) SeaView version 4: A multiplatform graphical user interface for sequence alignment and phylogenetic tree building. Molecular biology and evolution 27: 221–224. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msp259
- Grangaud E (2010) Guide des fougeres et plantes alliees des Mascareignes: La Reunion, Maurice et Rodrigues. Biotope ; Museum national d'Historie naturelle, Meze; Paris, 432 pp.
- Grubbs FE (1950) Sample Criteria for Testing Outlying Observations. The Annals of

Mathematical Statistics 21: 27-58. doi: 10.1214/aoms/1177729885

- Halme P, Heilmann-Clausen J, Rämä T, Kosonen T, Kunttu P (2012) Monitoring fungal biodiversity towards an integrated approach. Fungal Ecology 5: 750–758. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2012.05.005
- Hattori T (2005) Diversity of wood-inhabiting polypores in temperate forests with different vegetation types in Japan. Fungal Diversity: 73–88.
- Hattori T (2017) Biogeography of polypores in Malesia, Southeast Asia. Mycoscience 58: 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.myc.2016.09.004
- Hawksworth D, Lücking R (2017) Fungal Diversity Revisited: 2.2 to 3.8 Million Species.
 In: Heitman J, Howlett B, Crous P, Stukenbrock E, James T, Gow N (Eds), The Fungal Kingdom. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, 79–95. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.FUNK-0052-2016
- Heikinheimo H, Eronen JT, Sennikov A, Preston CD, Oikarinen E, Uotila P, Mannila H, Fortelius M (2012) Convergence in the distribution patterns of Europe's plants and mammals is due to environmental forcing. Journal of Biogeography 39: 1633–1644. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2012.02723.x
- Heilmann-Clausen J, Aude E, van Dort K, Christensen M, Piltaver A, Veerkamp M, Walleyn R, Siller I, Standovár T, Òdor P (2014) Communities of wood-inhabiting bryophytes and fungi on dead beech logs in Europe reflecting substrate quality or shaped by climate and forest conditions? Journal of Biogeography 41: 2269–2282. doi: 10.1111/jbi.12388
- Heilmann-Clausen J, Barron ES, Boddy L, Dahlberg A, Griffith GW, Nordén J, Ovaskainen O, Perini C, Senn-Irlet B, Halme P (2015) A fungal perspective on conservation biology. Conservation Biology 29: 61–68. doi: 10.1111/cobi.12388
- Heilmann-Clausen J, Maruyama PK, Bruun HH, Dimitrov D, Laessøe T, Frøslev TG, Dalsgaard B (2016) Citizen science data reveal ecological, historical and evolutionary factors shaping interactions between woody hosts and wood-inhabiting fungi. New Phytologist 212: 1072–1082. doi: 10.1111/nph.14194
- Hibbett DS (2007) After the gold rush, or before the flood? Evolutionary morphology of mushroom-forming fungi (Agaricomycetes) in the early 21st century. Mycological Research 111: 1001–1018. doi: 10.1016/j.mycres.2007.01.012
- Hibbett DS, Abarenkov K, Kõljalg U, Öpik M, Chai B, Cole J, Wang Q, Crous P, Robert V, Helgason T, Herr JR, Kirk P, Lueschow S, O'Donnell K, Nilsson RH, Oono R, Schoch C, Smyth C, Walker DM, Porras-Alfaro A, Taylor JW, Geiser DM, O'Donnell K, Nilsson RH, Oono R, Schoch C, Smyth C, Walker DM, Porras-Alfaro A, Taylor JW, Geiser DM (2016) Sequence-based classification and identification of Fungi. Mycologia 108: 1049–1068. doi: 10.3852/16-130
- Hibbett DS, Bauer R, Binder M, Giachini AJ, Hosaka K, Justo A, Larsson E, Larsson KH, Lawrey JD, Miettinen O, Nagy LG, Nilsson RH, Weiss M, Thorn RG, others (2014) 14 Agaricomycetes. In: McLaughlin DJ, Spatafora JW (Eds), Systematics and Evolution. The Mycota VII Part A. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 373–429. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-55318-9_14
- Hibbett DS, Ohman A, Glotzer D, Nuhn M, Kirk P, Nilsson RH (2011) Progress in molecular and morphological taxon discovery in Fungi and options for formal classification of environmental sequences. Fungal Biology Reviews 25: 38–47. doi: 10.1016/j.fbr.2011.01.001
- Hijmans RJ, Cameron SE, Parra JL, Jones PG, Jarvis A (2005) Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 25: 1965–1978. doi: 10.1002/joc.1276
- Högberg MN, Yarwood SA, Myrold DD (2014) Fungal but not bacterial soil communities

recover after termination of decadal nitrogen additions to boreal forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 72: 35–43. doi: 10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2014.01.014

- Holt BG, Lessard J-P, Borregaard MK, Fritz S, Araújo MB, Dimitrov D, Fabre P-H, Graham CH, Graves GR, Jønsson K, Nogués-Bravo D, Wang Z, Whittaker RJ, Fjeldså J, Rahbek C (2013) An update of Wallace's zoogeographic regions of the world. Science 339: 74–78. doi: 10.1126/science.1228282
- Hopple JS, Vilgalys R (1999) Phylogenetic Relationships in the Mushroom Genus Coprinus and Dark-Spored Allies Based on Sequence Data from the Nuclear Gene Coding for the Large Ribosomal Subunit RNA: Divergent Domains, Outgroups, and Monophyly. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 13: 1–19. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/mpev.1999.0634
- Hortal J (2008) Uncertainty and the measurement of terrestrial biodiversity gradients. Journal of Biogeography 35: 1335–1336. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2008.01955.x
- Hortal J, Diniz-Filho JAF, Bini LM, Rodríguez MÁ, Baselga A, Nogués-Bravo D, Rangel TF, Hawkins BA, Lobo JM (2011) Ice age climate, evolutionary constraints and diversity patterns of European dung beetles. Ecology Letters 14: 741–748. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01634.x
- Howe WG (1969) Two-Sided Tolerance Limits for Normal Populations, Some Improvements. Journal of the American Statistical Association 64: 610. doi: 10.2307/2283644
- Index Fungorum (2018) Index Fungorum. Available from: http://www.indexfungorum.org (April 26, 2018).
- Isbell F, Craven D, Connolly J, Loreau M, Schmid B, Beierkuhnlein C, Bezemer TM, Bonin C, Bruelheide H, de Luca E, Ebeling A, Griffin JN, Guo Q, Hautier Y, Hector A, Jentsch A, Kreyling J, Lanta V, Manning P, Meyer ST, Mori AS, Naeem S, Niklaus PA, Polley HW, Reich PB, Roscher C, Seabloom EW, Smith MD, Thakur MP, Tilman D, Tracy BF, van der Putten WH, van Ruijven J, Weigelt A, Weisser WW, Wilsey B, Eisenhauer N (2015) Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. Nature 526: 574–577. doi: 10.1038/nature15374
- Izumitsu K, Hatoh K, Sumita T, Kitade Y, Morita A, Gafur A, Ohta A, Kawai M, Yamanaka T, Neda H, Ota Y, Tanaka C (2012) Rapid and simple preparation of mushroom DNA directly from colonies and fruiting bodies for PCR. Mycoscience 53: 396–401. doi: 10.1007/s10267-012-0182-3
- Karsten PA (1890) Fragmenta mycologica XXIX. Hedwigia 29: 147–149.
- Katoh K, Rozewicki J, Yamada KD (2017) MAFFT online service: multiple sequence alignment, interactive sequence choice and visualization. Briefings in Bioinformatics. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbx108
- Kauserud H, Heegaard E, Büntgen U, Halvorsen R, Egli S, Senn-Irlet B, Krisai-Greilhuber I, Dämon W, Sparks T, Nordén J, Høiland K, Kirk P, Semenov M, Boddy L, Stenseth NC (2012) Warming-induced shift in European mushroom fruiting phenology. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109: 14488–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1200789109
- Kearse M, Moir R, Wilson A, Stones-Havas S, Cheung M, Sturrock S, Buxton S, Cooper A, Markowitz S, Duran C, Thierer T, Ashton B, Meintjes P, Drummond A (2012) Geneious Basic: An integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. Bioinformatics 28: 1647–1649. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts199
- Keil P, Schweiger O, Kühn I, Kunin WE, Kuussaari M, Settele J, Henle K, Brotons L, Pe'er G, Lengyel S, Moustakas A, Steinicke H, Storch D, Pe'er G, Lengyel S, Moustakas A, Steinicke H, Storch D (2012) Patterns of beta diversity in Europe: The role of climate,

land cover and distance across scales. Journal of Biogeography 39: 1473–1486. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2012.02701.x

- Kirk PM, Cannon PF, Minter DW, Stalpers JA (2008) Dictionary of the Fungi. 10th ed. CABI, Wallingford, UK.
- Kisimova-Horovitz L, Oberwinkler F, Gómez-Pignataro LD (1997) Basidiomicetos resupinados de Costa Rica. Litschauerella, Subulicystidium y Tubulicium (Corticiaceae sl). Resupinate basidiomycetes from Costa Rica. Litschauerella, Subulicystidium and Tubulicium (Corticiaceae sl). Revista de Biología Tropical. 45: 1311–1325.
- Kõljalg U, Nilsson RH, Abarenkov K, Tedersoo L, Taylor AFS, Bahram M, Bates ST, Bruns TD, Bengtsson-Palme J, Callaghan TM, Douglas B, Drenkhan T, Eberhardt U, Dueñas M, Grebenc T, Griffith GW, Hartmann M, Kirk PM, Kohout P, Larsson E, Lindahl BD, Lücking R, Martín MP, Matheny PB, Nguyen NH, Niskanen T, Oja J, Peay KG, Peintner U, Peterson M, Põldmaa K, Saag L, Saar I, Schüßler A, Scott JA, Senés C, Smith ME, Suija A, Taylor DL, Telleria MT, Weiss M, Larsson K (2013) Towards a unified paradigm for sequence-based identification of fungi. Molecular Ecology 22: 5271–5277. doi: 10.1111/mec.12481
- Kotiranta H, Saarenoksa R, Kytövuori I (2009) Aphyllophoroid fungi of Finland. A checklist with ecology, distribution, and threat categories. Norrlinia 19: 1–223.
- Kreft H, Jetz W (2010) A framework for delineating biogeographical regions based on species distributions. Journal of Biogeography 37: 2029–2053. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02375.x
- Kremen C, Cameron A, Moilanen A, Phillips SJ, Thomas CD, Beentje H, Dransfield J, Fisher BL, Glaw F, Good TC, Harper GJ, Hijmans RJ, Lees DC, Louis E, Nussbaum RA, Raxworthy CJ, Razafimpahanana A, Schatz GE, Vences M, Vieites DR, Wright PC, Zjhra ML (2008) Aligning conservation priorities across taxa in Madagascar with high-resolution planning tools. Science 320: 222–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1155193
- Krieglsteiner GJ, Kaiser A (2000) Die Großpilze Baden-Württembergs Band 1. Allgemeiner Teil. Spezieller Teil: Ständerpilze: Gallert-, Rinden-, Stachel- und Porenpilze. Krieglsteiner GJ (Ed). Ulmer, Stuttgart.
- Langer E (2000) Rote Liste der Großpilze Hessens. 1st ed. Hessisches Ministerium für Landwirtschaft und Forsten, Wiesbaden.
- Larsen BB, Miller EC, Rhodes MK, Wiens JJ (2017) Inordinate Fondness Multiplied and Redistributed: the Number of Species on Earth and the New Pie of Life. The Quarterly Review of Biology 92: 229–265. doi: 10.1086/693564
- Larsson A (2014) AliView: a fast and lightweight alignment viewer and editor for large datasets. Bioinformatics 30: 3276–3278. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu531
- Larsson K-H (1994) Poroid species in Trechispora and the use of calcium oxalate crystals for species identification. Mycological Research 98: 1153–1172. doi: 10.1016/S0953-7562(09)80200-1
- Larsson K-H (1995) Taxonomy of Trechispora farinacea and proposed synonyms I. Species with a grandinioid or hydnoid hymenophore. Symbolae Botanicae Upsaliensis 30: 101–118.
- Larsson K-H (1996) New species and combinations in Trechispora (Corticiaceae, Basidiomycotina). Nordic Journal of Botany 16: 83–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-1051.1996.tb00218.x
- Larsson K-H (2007) Re-thinking the classification of corticioid fungi. Mycological Research 111: 1040–1063. doi: 10.1016/j.mycres.2007.08.001
- Larsson K (1992) The genus Trechispora (Corticiaceae, Basidiomycetes). University of Göteborg Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/2077/12471.

Liberta AE (1966) On Trechispora. Taxon 15: 317–319. Available from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1216118.

- Liberta AE (1973) The genus Trechispora (Basidiomycetes, Corticiaceae). Canadian Journal of Botany 51: 1871–1892. doi: 10.1139/b73-240
- Linder HP, de Klerk HM, Born J, Burgess ND, Fjeldså J, Rahbek C (2012) The partitioning of Africa: Statistically defined biogeographical regions in sub-Saharan Africa. Journal of Biogeography 39: 1189–1205. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2012.02728.x
- Lodge DJ, Ammirati J, O'Dell TE, Mueller GM (2004) Collecting and describing macrofungi: Inventory and Monitoring Methods. In: Mueller GM, Bills G, Foster MS (Eds), Biodiversity of Fungi. Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 128–158.
- Lumbsch TH, Buchanan PK, May TW, Mueller GM (2008) Phylogeography and Biogeography of Fungi. Mycological Research 112: 423–424. doi: 10.1016/j.mycres.2008.02.002
- Maddison WP, Maddison DR (2018) Mesquite: a modular system for evolutionary analysis. Version 3.40. Available from: http://mesquiteproject.org.
- Magri D, Vendramin GG, Comps B, Dupanloup I, Geburek T, Gomory D, Latalowa M, Litt T, Paule L, Roure JM, Tantau I, van der Knaap WO, Petit RJ, de Beaulieu J-L (2006) A new scenario for the Quaternary history of European beech populations: palaeobotanical evidence and genetic consequences. New Phytologist 171: 199–221. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01740.x
- Mateo RG, Broennimann O, Normand S, Petitpierre B, Araújo MB, Svenning J-C, Baselga A, Fernández-González F, Gómez-Rubio V, Muñoz J, Suarez GM, Luoto M, Guisan A, Vanderpoorten A (2016) The mossy north: an inverse latitudinal diversity gradient in European bryophytes. Scientific Reports 6: 25546. doi: 10.1038/srep25546
- McKiernan EC, Bourne PE, Brown CT, Buck S, Kenall A, Lin J, McDougall D, Nosek BA, Ram K, Soderberg CK, Spies JR, Thaney K, Updegrove A, Woo KH, Yarkoni T (2016) How open science helps researchers succeed Rodgers P (Ed). eLife 5. doi: 10.7554/eLife.16800
- Meyer C, Kreft H, Guralnick R, Jetz W (2015) Global priorities for an effective information basis of biodiversity distributions. Nature Communications 6: 8221. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9221
- Miettinen O, Larsson K-H, others (2006) Trechispora elongata species nova from North Europe. Mycotaxon 96: 193–198. Available from: https://tuhat.halvi.helsinki.fi/portal/services/downloadRegister/36107911/Miettinen20 06Trechispora_elongata.pdf (May 19, 2015).
- Miller MA, Pfeiffer W, Schwartz T (2010) Creating the CIPRES Science Gateway for inference of large phylogenetic trees. In: 2010 Gateway Computing Environments Workshop (GCE). IEEE, 1–8. doi: 10.1109/GCE.2010.5676129
- Moncalvo JM, Buchanan PK (2008) Molecular evidence for long distance dispersal across the Southern Hemisphere in the Ganoderma applanatum-australe species complex (Basidiomycota). Mycological Research 112: 425–436. doi: 10.1016/j.mycres.2007.12.001
- Mora C, Tittensor DP, Adl S, Simpson AGB, Worm B (2011) How Many Species Are There on Earth and in the Ocean? Mace GM (Ed). PLoS Biology 9: e1001127. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001127
- Mueller GM, Schmit JP, Leacock PR, Buyck B, Cifuentes J, Desjardin DE, Halling RE, Hjortstam K, Iturriaga T, Larsson K-HH, Lodge DJ, May TW, Minter D, Rajchenberg M, Redhead SA, Ryvarden L, Trappe JM, Watling R, Wu Q (2007) Global diversity and distribution of macrofungi. Biodiversity and Conservation 16: 37–48. doi: 10.1007/s10531-006-9108-8

- Mukhin V (1993) Biota of xylotrophic Basidiomycetes of the West Siberian Plain. UIF Nauka, Ekaterinburg.
- Müller J, Brustel H, Brin A, Bussler H, Bouget C, Obermaier E, Heidinger IMM, Lachat T, Förster B, Horak J, Procházka J, Köhler F, Larrieu L, Bense U, Isacsson G, Zapponi L, Gossner MM (2015) Increasing temperature may compensate for lower amounts of dead wood in driving richness of saproxylic beetles. Ecography 38: 499–509. doi: 10.1111/ecog.00908
- Newbold T, Hudson LN, Hill SLL, Contu S, Lysenko I, Senior RA, Börger L, Bennett DJ, Choimes A, Collen B, Day J, De Palma A, Díaz S, Echeverria-Londoño S, Edgar MJ, Feldman A, Garon M, Harrison MLK, Alhusseini T, Ingram DJ, Itescu Y, Kattge J, Kemp V, Kirkpatrick L, Kleyer M, Correia DLP, Martin CD, Meiri S, Novosolov M, Pan Y, Phillips HRP, Purves DW, Robinson A, Simpson J, Tuck SL, Weiher E, White HJ, Ewers RM, Mace GM, Scharlemann JPW, Purvis A (2015) Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. Nature 520: 45–50. doi: 10.1038/nature14324
- Nilsson RH, Sánchez-García M, Ryberg MK, Abarenkov K, Wurzbacher C, Kristiansson E (2017) Read quality-based trimming of the distal ends of public fungal DNA sequences is nowhere near satisfactory. MycoKeys 26: 13–24. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.26.14591
- Nilsson RH, Tedersoo L, Abarenkov K, Ryberg M, Kristiansson E, Hartmann M, Schoch CL, Nylander JAA, Bergsten J, Porter TM, Jumpponen A, Vaishampayan P, Ovaskainen O, Hallenberg N, Bengtsson-Palme J, Eriksson KM, Larsson K-H, Larsson E, Kõljalg U (2012) Five simple guidelines for establishing basic authenticity and reliability of newly generated fungal ITS sequences. MycoKeys 4: 37–63. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.4.3606
- Nordén B, Larsson K-H (2000) Basidiospore dispersal in the old-growth forest fungus Phlebia centrifuga (Basidiomycetes). Nordic Journal of Botany 20: 215–219. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-1051.2000.tb01572.x
- Nordén J, Penttilä R, Siitonen J, Tomppo E, Ovaskainen O (2013) Specialist species of wood-inhabiting fungi struggle while generalists thrive in fragmented boreal forests. Journal of Ecology 101: 701–712. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12085
- Norros V, Penttilä R, Suominen M, Ovaskainen O (2012) Dispersal may limit the occurrence of specialist wood decay fungi already at small spatial scales. Oikos 121: 961–974. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012.20052.x
- Norros V, Rannik Ü, Hussein T, Petäjä T, Vesala T, Ovaskainen O (2014) Do small spores disperse further than large spores? Ecology 95: 1612–1621. doi: 10.1890/13-0877.1
- O'Donnell K (1992) Fusarium and its near relatives. The fungal holomorph: mitotic, meiotic and pleomorphic speciation in fungal systematics. CAB International, Wallingford, pp 225-233.
- Oberwinkler F (1977) Species and generic concepts in the Corticiaceae. The species concept in Hymenomycetes. Cramer, Vaduz: 331–348.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet F, Kindt R, Legendre P, O'Hara R (2016) Vegan: community ecology package. R package 2.3-3: Available at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packa. Available from: http://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan.
- Ordynets A (2018a) Calculating and plotting genetic distances. protocols.io. doi: dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.n8fdhtn
- Ordynets A (2018b) Calculating tolerance intervals for the size of measurable objects. protocols.io. doi: dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.n8gdhtw
- Ordynets A (2018c) Estimating barcoding gap for species delimitation. protocols.io. doi: dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.n98dh9w
- Ordynets A (2018d) Plotting phylogenetic tree with branch supports from two phylogenetic analyses. protocols.io. doi: dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.n9fdh3n

- Ordynets A, Denecke J (2018) Calculating and plotting size range of morphological structures. protocols.io. doi: dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.n7tdhnn
- Ordynets A, Savchenko A, Akulov A, Yurchenko E, Malysheva V, Kõljalg U, Vlasák J, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2017) Aphyllophoroid fungi in insular woodlands of eastern Ukraine. doi: 10.15156/bio/587471
- Page RDM (2016) DNA barcoding and taxonomy: dark taxa and dark texts. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 371: 20150334. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0334
- Paradis E, Claude J, Strimmer K (2004) APE: Analyses of phylogenetics and evolution in R language. Bioinformatics 20: 289–290. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btg412
- Parmasto E (1968) Conspectus systematis Corticiacearum. Tartu, 261 pp.
- Parmasto E, Parmasto I, Möls T (1987) Variation of basidiospores in the hymenomycetes and its significance to their taxonomy. Bresinsky A, Butin H, Schwantes HO (Eds). J. Cramer, Berlin, Stuttgart.
- Peay KG, Bidartondo MI, Elizabeth Arnold A (2010) Not every fungus is everywhere: Scaling to the biogeography of fungal-plant interactions across roots, shoots and ecosystems. New Phytologist 185: 878–882. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03158.x
- Peay KG, Schubert MG, Nguyen NH, Bruns TD (2012) Measuring ectomycorrhizal fungal dispersal: macroecological patterns driven by microscopic propagules. Molecular Ecology 21: 4122–4136. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05666.x
- Penev L, Mietchen D, Chavan V, Hagedorn G, Smith V, Shotton D, Ó Tuama É, Senderov V, Georgiev T, Stoev P, Groom Q, Remsen D, Edmunds S (2017) Strategies and guidelines for scholarly publishing of biodiversity data. Research Ideas and Outcomes 3: e12431. doi: 10.3897/rio.3.e12431
- PlutoF (2017) PlutoF platform observations. Version 1.15. Occurrence Dataset accessed via GBIF.org on 2018-05-02. University of Tartu; Natural History Museum and Botanic Garden. doi: 10.15156/BIO/587440
- Punugu A, Dunn MT, Welden AL (1980) Peniophoroid fungi of the West Indies. Mycotaxon 10: 428–454.
- R Core Team (2017) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Available from: https://www.r-project.org/.
- Rämä T, Nordén J, Davey ML, Mathiassen GH, Spatafora JW, Kauserud H (2014) Fungi ahoy! Diversity on marine wooden substrata in the high North. Fungal Ecology 8: 46– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2013.12.002
- Rambaut A (2014) FigTree, a graphical viewer of phylogenetic trees. Available from: http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/figtree/.
- Ronquist F, Teslenko M, van der Mark P, Ayres DL, Darling A, Höhna S, Larget B, Liu L, Suchard MA, Huelsenbeck JP (2012) MrBayes 3.2: efficient Bayesian phylogenetic inference and model choice across a large model space. Systematic biology 61: 539– 542. Available from: http://sysbio.oxfordjournals.org/content/61/3/539.short.
- Rosenthal LM, Larsson K-H, Branco S, Chung JA, Glassman SI, Liao H-L, Peay KG, Smith DP, Talbot JM, Taylor JW, Vellinga EC, Vilgalys R, Bruns TD (2017) Survey of corticioid fungi in North American pinaceous forests reveals hyperdiversity, underpopulated sequence databases, and species that are potentially ectomycorrhizal. Mycologia 109: 115–127. doi: 10.1080/00275514.2017.1281677
- Rüdigs J (Makroaufmaßprogramm. Available from: https://ruedig.de/tmp/messprogramm.htm (April 10, 2018).
- Ryberg M, Kristiansson E, Sjökvist E, Nilsson RH (2009) An outlook on the fungal internal transcribed spacer sequences in GenBank and the introduction of a web-based tool for the exploration of fungal diversity. New Phytologist 181: 471–477. doi:

10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02667.x

- Ryberg M, Nilsson RH (2018) New light on names and naming of dark taxa. MycoKeys 30: 31–39. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.30.24376
- Ryvarden L (2002) A note on the genus Hydnodon Banker. Synopsis Fungorum 15: 31-33.
- Ryvarden L (2015) Notes on basidiomycetes on driftwood in Finnmark, Norway. Synopsis Fungorum 33: 50–52.
- Ryvarden L, Melo I (2014) Poroid Fungi of Europe (illustr. by T. Niemelä). Synopsis Fungorum 31. Fungiflora, Oslo.
- Sanderson EW, Jaiteh M, Levy MA, Redford KH, Wannebo A V., Woolmer G (2002) The Human Footprint and the Last of the Wild. BioScience 52: 891. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0891:THFATL]2.0.CO;2
- Sato H, Tsujino R, Kurita K, Yokoyama K, Agata K (2012) Modelling the global distribution of fungal species: New insights into microbial cosmopolitanism. Molecular Ecology 21: 5599–5612. doi: 10.1111/mec.12053
- Savchenko A (2017) V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University herbarium. Version 1.2. V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University. Occurrence Dataset accessed via GBIF.org on 2018-05-14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.15468/kuspj6.
- Schigel D, Döring M, Page R, Kõljalg U, Hebert P (2017) Linking molecular and morphological biodiversity evidence by building a single name space. Proceedings of TDWG 1: e20503. doi: 10.3897/tdwgproceedings.1.20503
- Schoch CL, Robbertse B, Robert V, Vu D, Cardinali G, Irinyi L, Meyer W, Nilsson RH, Hughes K, Miller AN, Kirk PM, Abarenkov K, Aime MC, Ariyawansa HA, Bidartondo M, Boekhout T, Buyck B, Cai Q, Chen J, Crespo A, Crous PW, Damm U, De Beer ZW, Dentinger BTM, Divakar PK, Dueñas M, Feau N, Fliegerova K, García MA, Ge Z-W, Griffith GW, Groenewald JZ, Groenewald M, Grube M, Gryzenhout M, Gueidan C, Guo L, Hambleton S, Hamelin R, Hansen K, Hofstetter V, Hong S-B, Houbraken J, Hyde KD, Inderbitzin P, Johnston PR, Karunarathna SC, Kõljalg U, Kovács GM, Kraichak E, Krizsan K, Kurtzman CP, Larsson K-H, Leavitt S, Letcher PM, Liimatainen Κ, Liu J-K, Lodge DJ, Luangsa-ard JJ, Lumbsch HT, Maharachchikumbura SSN, Manamgoda D, Martín MP, Minnis AM, Moncalvo J-M, Mulè G, Nakasone KK, Niskanen T, Olariaga I, Papp T, Petkovits T, Pino-Bodas R, Powell MJ, Raja HA, Redecker D, Sarmiento-Ramirez JM, Seifert KA, Shrestha B, Stenroos S, Stielow B, Suh S-O, Tanaka K, Tedersoo L, Telleria MT, Udayanga D, Untereiner WA, Diéguez Uribeondo J, Subbarao K V, Vágvölgyi C, Visagie C, Voigt K, Walker DM, Weir BS, Weiß M, Wijayawardene NN, Wingfield MJ, Xu JP, Yang ZL, Zhang N, Zhuang W-Y, Federhen S (2014) Finding needles in haystacks: linking scientific names, reference specimens and molecular data for Fungi. Database : the journal of biological databases and curation 2014: bau061. doi: 10.1093/database/bau061
- Schoch CL, Seifert KA, Huhndorf S, Robert V, Spouge JL, Levesque CA, Chen W, Bolchacova E, Voigt K, Crous PW, Miller AN, Wingfield MJ, Aime MC, An K-D, Bai F-Y, Barreto RW, Begerow D, Bergeron M-J, Blackwell M, Boekhout T, Bogale M, Boonyuen N, Burgaz AR, Buyck B, Cai L, Cai Q, Cardinali G, Chaverri P, Coppins BJ, Crespo A, Cubas P, Cummings C, Damm U, de Beer ZW, de Hoog GS, Del-Prado R, Dentinger B, Dieguez-Uribeondo J, Divakar PK, Douglas B, Duenas M, Duong TA, Eberhardt U, Edwards JE, Elshahed MS, Fliegerova K, Furtado M, Garcia MA, Ge Z-W, Griffith GW, Griffiths K, Groenewald JZ, Groenewald M, Grube M, Gryzenhout M, Guo L-D, Hagen F, Hambleton S, Hamelin RC, Hansen K, Harrold P, Heller G, Herrera C, Hirayama K, Hirooka Y, Ho H-M, Hoffmann K, Hofstetter V, Hognabba F, Hollingsworth PM, Hong S-B, Hosaka K, Houbraken J, Hughes K, Huhtinen S, Hyde

KD, James T, Johnson EM, Johnson JE, Johnston PR, Jones EBG, Kelly LJ, Kirk PM, Knapp DG, Koljalg U, Kovacs GM, Kurtzman CP, Landvik S, Leavitt SD, Liggenstoffer AS, Liimatainen K, Lombard L, Luangsa-ard JJ, Lumbsch HT, Maganti H, Maharachchikumbura SSN, Martin MP, May TW, McTaggart AR, Methven AS, Meyer W, Moncalvo J-M, Mongkolsamrit S, Nagy LG, Nilsson RH, Niskanen T, Nyilasi I, Okada G, Okane I, Olariaga I, Otte J, Papp T, Park D, Petkovits T, Pino-Bodas R, Quaedvlieg W, Raja HA, Redecker D, Rintoul TL, Ruibal C, Sarmiento-Ramirez JM, Schmitt I, Schussler A, Shearer C, Sotome K, Stefani FOP, Stenroos S, Stielow B, Stockinger H, Suetrong S, Suh S-O, Sung G-H, Suzuki M, Tanaka K, Tedersoo L, Telleria MT, Tretter E, Untereiner WA, Urbina H, Vagvolgyi C, Vialle A, Vu TD, Walther G, Wang Q-M, Wang Y, Weir BS, Weiss M, White MM, Xu J, Yahr R, Yang ZL, Yurkov A, Zamora J-C, Zhang N, Zhuang W-Y, Schindel D (2012) Nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region as a universal DNA barcode marker for Fungi. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109: 6241–6246. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117018109

- Senckenberg. Herbarium Senckenbergianum (FR) Fungi (2018) Occurrence Dataset https://doi.org/10.15468/00aq5v accessed via GBIF.org on 2018-03-28.
- Shiryaev AG (2014) Spatial differentiation of Russian clavarioid mycobiota: ecologicalgeographical aspect. MV Lomonosov Moscow State University, Russia
- Simpson GG (1943) 241 Amer J Sci Mammals and the nature of continents. American Journal of Science, 1–31pp. doi: 10.2475/ajs.241.1.1
- Smith V, Georgiev T, Stoev P, Biserkov J, Miller J, Livermore L, Baker E, Mietchen D, Couvreur T, Mueller G, Dikow T, Helgen KM, Frank J, Agosti D, Roberts D, Penev L (2013) Beyond dead trees: integrating the scientific process in the Biodiversity Data Journal. Biodiversity Data Journal 1: e995. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.1.e995
- Sørensen TA (1948) A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content, and its application to analyses of the vegetation on Danish commons. Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskabs Biologiske Skrifter 5: 1–34.
- Stamatakis A (2014) RAxML version 8: A tool for phylogenetic analysis and post-analysis of large phylogenies. Bioinformatics 30: 1312–1313. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu033
- Stokland JN, Siitonen J, Jonsson BG (2012) Biodiversity in dead wood. Cambridge University Press, 509 pp. Available from: http://www.cambridge.org/gb/academic/subjects/life-sciences/ecology-andconservation/biodiversity-dead-wood?format=PB#KbqhuBPM29JxwChQ.97 (April 25, 2018).
- Subulicystidium longisporum (Pat.) Parmasto in GBIF Secretariat (2017) GBIF Backbone Taxonomy. Checklist Dataset https://doi.org/10.15468/39omei accessed via GBIF.org on 2018-03-28. Available from: https://www.gbif.org/species/2523214.
- Sutherst RW (2014) Pest species distribution modelling: origins and lessons from history. Biological Invasions 16: 239–256. doi: 10.1007/s10530-013-0523-y
- Svenning J-C, Fløjgaard C, Baselga A (2011) Climate, history and neutrality as drivers of mammal beta diversity in Europe: Insights from multiscale deconstruction. Journal of Animal Ecology 80: 393–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01771.x
- Svenning J-C, Normand S, Skov F (2008) Postglacial dispersal limitation of widespread forest plant species in nemoral Europe. Ecography 31: 316–326. doi: 10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.05206.x
- Takhtajan A (1978) Floristic regions of the world. Nauka, Leningrad.
- Talbot PHB (1958) Studies of some South African resupinate Hymenomycetes. Part II.

Bothalia 7: 131–187.

- Tedersoo L, Bahram M, Polme S, Koljalg U, Yorou NS, Wijesundera R, Ruiz L V., Vasco-Palacios AM, Thu PQ, Suija A, Smith ME, Sharp C, Saluveer E, Saitta A, Rosas M, Riit T, Ratkowsky D, Pritsch K, Poldmaa K, Piepenbring M, Phosri C, Peterson M, Parts K, Partel K, Otsing E, Nouhra E, Njouonkou AL, Nilsson RH, Morgado LN, Mayor J, May TW, Majuakim L, Lodge DJ, Lee SS, Larsson K-H, Kohout P, Hosaka K, Hiiesalu I, Henkel TW, Harend H, Guo L -d., Greslebin A, Grelet G, Geml J, Gates G, Dunstan W, Dunk C, Drenkhan R, Dearnaley J, De Kesel A, Dang T, Chen X, Buegger F, Brearley FQ, Bonito G, Anslan S, Abell S, Abarenkov K (2014) Global diversity and geography of soil fungi. Science 346: 1256688. doi: 10.1126/science.1256688
- Tedersoo L, Smith ME (2013) Lineages of ectomycorrhizal fungi revisited: Foraging strategies and novel lineages revealed by sequences from belowground. Fungal Biology Reviews 27: 83–99. doi: 10.1016/j.fbr.2013.09.001
- Telleria MT, Melo I, Duenas M, Larsson K-H, Paz Martin MP (2013) Molecular analyses confirm Brevicellicium in Trechisporales. IMA Fungus 4: 21–28. doi: 10.5598/imafungus.2013.04.01.03
- Treseder KK, Maltz MR, Hawkins BA, Fierer N, Stajich JE, McGuire KL (2014) Evolutionary histories of soil fungi are reflected in their large-scale biogeography Classen DA (Ed). Ecology Letters 17: 1086–1093. doi: 10.1111/ele.12311
- Trichiès G, Schultheis B (2002) Trechispora antipus sp. nov., une seconde espèce bisporique du genre Trechispora (Basidiomycota, Stereales). Mycotaxon 82: 453–458.
- Triolo J (2014) Etat des ressources génétiques forestières à l'île de La Réunion. Tome 11.
 Contribution au rapport de la FAO: «Etat des ressources génétiques forestières dans le monde». Version du 14/01/2014. Available from: http://agriculture.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/11_FranceTome11ReunionJanvier2014_cle884eeb.pdf.
- Triponez Y, Arrigo N, Espíndola A, Alvarez N (2015) Decoupled post-glacial history in mutualistic plant–insect interactions: insights from the yellow loosestrife (Lysimachia vulgaris) and its associated oil-collecting bees (Macropis europaea and M. fulvipes) Katinas L (Ed). Journal of Biogeography 42: 630–640. doi: 10.1111/jbi.12456
- Truong C, Mujic AB, Healy R, Kuhar F, Furci G, Torres D, Niskanen T, Sandoval-Leiva PA, Fernández N, Escobar JM, Moretto A, Palfner G, Pfister D, Nouhra E, Swenie R, Sánchez-García M, Matheny PB, Smith ME (2017) How to know the fungi: combining field inventories and DNA-barcoding to document fungal diversity. New Phytologist 214: 913–919. doi: 10.1111/nph.14509
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern Applied Statistics with S. Springer New York, New York, NY. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-21706-2
- Verma SP, Quiroz-Ruiz A (2006) Critical values for six Dixon tests for outliers Critical values for six Dixon tests for outliers in normal samples up to sizes 100, and applications in science and engineering. Revista Mexicana de Ciencias Geológicas 23: 133–161. Available from: http://scielo.unam.mx/pdf/rmcg/v23n2/v23n2a3.pdf (January 11, 2017).
- Volobuev S (2016) Subulicystidium perlongisporum (Trechisporales, Basidiomycota) new to Russia, with notes on a molecular study of the species. Nova Hedwigia 102: 531–537. doi: 10.1127/nova_hedwigia/2016/0329
- Wallace AR (1876) The Geographical Distribution of Animals. With a Study of the Relations of Living and Extinct Faunas as Eludicidating the Past Changes of the Earth's Surface. Macmillan and Co., London.
- WCS & CIESIN (2005) Wildlife Conservation Society WCS, and Center for International

Earth Science Information Network - CIESIN - Columbia University. Last of the Wild Project, Version 2, 2005 (LWP-2): Global Human Footprint Dataset (Geographic). doi: dx.doi.org/10.7927/H4M61H5F

- Wetzel FT, Bingham HC, Groom Q, Haase P, Kõljalg U, Kuhlmann M, Martin CS, Penev L, Robertson T, Saarenmaa H, Schmeller DS, Stoll S, Tonkin JD, Häuser CL (2018) Unlocking biodiversity data: Prioritization and filling the gaps in biodiversity observation data in Europe. Biological Conservation 221: 78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2017.12.024
- White TJ, Bruns S, Lee S, Taylor J (1990) Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: PCR Protocols: A Guide to Methods and Applications. Academic Press, New York, 315–322. doi: citeulike-article-id:671166
- Wilk J (2012) Smaff "Statistische Messreihen-Auswertung für Fungi v3.1." Südwestdeutsche Pilzrundschau 48: 49–56. Available from: http://www.pilzfreun.de/zeitschrift/.
- Wilkinson MD, Dumontier M, Aalbersberg IjJ, Appleton G, Axton M, Baak A, Blomberg N, Boiten J-W, da Silva Santos LB, Bourne PE, Bouwman J, Brookes AJ, Clark T, Crosas M, Dillo I, Dumon O, Edmunds S, Evelo CT, Finkers R, Gonzalez-Beltran A, Gray AJG, Groth P, Goble C, Grethe JS, Heringa J, 't Hoen PA., Hooft R, Kuhn T, Kok R, Kok J, Lusher SJ, Martone ME, Mons A, Packer AL, Persson B, Rocca-Serra P, Roos M, van Schaik R, Sansone S-A, Schultes E, Sengstag T, Slater T, Strawn G, Swertz MA, Thompson M, van der Lei J, van Mulligen E, Velterop J, Waagmeester A, Wittenburg P, Wolstencroft K, Zhao J, Mons B (2016) The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Scientific Data 3: 160018. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.18
- Young DS (2010) tolerance: An R Package for Estimating Tolerance Intervals. Journal of Statistical Software 36: 1–39. doi: 10.18637/jss.v036.i05

ERKLÄRUNG GEMÄSS § 8 ABS. 1 SATZ 2 LIT. D AB-PROMO

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbständig, ohne unerlaubte Hilfe Dritter angefertigt und andere als die in der Dissertation angegebenen Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten oder unveröffentlichten Schriften entnommen sind, habe ich als solche kenntlich gemacht. Dritte waren an der inhaltlichen Erstellung der Dissertation nicht beteiligt; insbesondere habe ich nicht die Hilfe eines kommerziellen Promotionsberaters in Anspruch genommen. Kein Teil dieser Arbeit ist in einem anderen Promotions- oder Habilitationsverfahren durch mich verwendet worden.

Datum

Unterschrift des Doktoranden

PUBLICATIONS

Ordynets A, Savchenko A, Akulov A, Yurchenko E, Malysheva V, Kõljalg U, Vlasák J, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2017) Aphyllophoroid fungi in insular woodlands of eastern Ukraine. Biodiversity Data Journal 5: e22426. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.5.e22426

Ordynets A, Larsson K-H, Langer E (2015) Two new *Trechispora* species from La Réunion Island. Mycological Progress 14: 113. doi: 10.1007/s11557-015-1133-0

Ordynets A, Scherf D, Pansegrau F, Denecke J, Lysenko L, Larsson K, & Langer E (2018) Short-spored *Subulicystidium* (Trechisporales, Basidiomycota): high morphological diversity and only partly clear species boundaries. MycoKeys 35: 41-99. doi: 10.3897/mycokeys.35.25678.

Ordynets A, Heilmann-Clausen J, Savchenko A, Bässler C, Volobuev S, Akulov O, Karadelev M, Kotiranta H, Saitta A, Langer E, Abrego N (2018) Do plantbased biogeographical regions shape aphyllophoroid fungal communities in Europe? Journal of Biogeography 45: 1182–1195. doi: 10.1111/jbi.13203